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COURT FILE NO. CV-23-00696362-00CL 
ONTARIO  

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 
(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

B E T W E E N: 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ONTARIO  

APPLICANT 
- AND -

FIRST SWISS MORTGAGE CORP. 

RESPONDENT 

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 37 OF THE MORTGAGE BROKERAGES, LENDERS 
AND ADMINISTRATORS ACT, 2006, S.O. 2006, C. 29, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 

OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, C.C.43, AS AMENDED  

SECOND SUPPLEMENT TO SECOND REPORT OF KSV RESTRUCTURING INC. 
AS RECEIVER 

JUNE 16, 2023 

1.0 Introduction 

1. This report (the “Second Supplemental Report”) further supplements the Receiver’s
Second Report to the Court dated May 12, 2023 (the “Second Report”) as well as the
Supplement to the Second Report dated May 15, 2023 (the “Supplemental Report”).

2. Further background on these proceedings can be found in the Receiver's First Report
to the Court dated March 31, 2023, the Second Report and the Supplemental Report
(collectively, the "Previous Reports").

3. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used in this Second Supplemental Report
have the meanings ascribed to them in the Second Report or the Supplemental
Report, as applicable.

1.1 Restrictions

1. This Second Supplemental Report is subject to the restrictions set out in the Second
Report.

1.2 Currency

1. Unless otherwise noted, all currency references in this Second Supplemental Report
are to Canadian dollars.



 

ksv advisory inc. Page 2 

1.3 Purpose of this Second Supplemental Report  
1. The purpose of this Second Supplemental Report is to: 

a) respond to the affidavit of Reza Nezami-Nia sworn June 9, 2023 (the “Nezami-
Nia Affidavit”) included within the Responding Record delivered by Mr. Nezami-
Nia on June 9, 2023 (the “Responding Record”) 1;  

b) provide comments from FSRA related to the Nezami-Nia Affidavit; 

c) summarize certain information provided to the Receiver by the Auditor; and 

d) summarize the Receiver’s correspondence with a party alleging to be the 
landlord (the “Alleged Landlord”) of 7191 Yonge St., Unit 911, Markham (the 
“Premises”), being the premises that the Company occupied prior to its 
assignment in bankruptcy. 

2.0 Background 

1. As set out in the Second Report and the Supplemental Report, in connection with its 
ongoing investigations, the Receiver sought relief from this Court pursuant to a motion 
that was originally returnable on May 19, 2023 (the “May 19 Motion”). After the 
Receiver served its motion record in connection with the May 19 Motion, legal counsel 
for Mr. Nezami-Nia advised that his client intended to oppose certain of the relief. 
Counsel to Mr. Nezami-Nia also advised that, due to personal matters, he would be 
unable to attend the May 19 Motion. Accordingly, prior to the hearing of the May 19 
Motion, the Receiver and counsel to Mr. Nezami-Nia agreed to a timetable (the 
“Timetable”) pursuant to which much of the relief specifically pertaining to Mr. Nezami-
Nia and entities related to him would be adjourned on consent (the “Adjourned 
Relief”), with the balance of the relief being addressed on May 19, 2023.  

2. Background on the Adjourned Relief, and the Receiver’s basis for recommending that 
the Court grant the Adjourned Relief, is set out in the Second Report and the 
Supplemental Report. 

3. The adjournment and the Timetable for the return of the motion for the Adjourned 
Relief were approved by the Court pursuant to Justice Steele’s endorsement dated 
May 29, 2023. Justice Steele's endorsement is provided in Appendix “A”. The 
Timetable has since been revised on consent between counsel for the Receiver and 
counsel for Mr. Nezami-Nia to account for the later July 27, 2023 hearing date that 
was scheduled by the Court. 

                                                
1 The Responding Record indicates on its cover page that it is delivered on behalf of the Company; however, the Company is a 
bankrupt, Mr. Nezami-Nia does not have the capacity to represent the Company and his counsel does not act for the Company.  The 
Responding Record was delivered pursuant to a timetable agreed to between the Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia in respect of relief 
sought by the Receiver against Mr. Nezami-Nia. The evidence in the Responding Record is an affidavit sworn by Mr. Nezami-Nia with 
exhibits. The Responding Record should be treated as the responding materials of Mr. Nezami-Nia personally, and the Receiver treats 
them as such in this Second Supplemental Report.  
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4. The Adjourned Relief is for an Order: 

a) directing that Mr. Nezami-Nia, the Auditor and any other party having in its 
possession or control books or records relating to the period since January 1, 
2014 (the “Relevant Time”), for any entity in which Mr. Nezami-Nia is or was 
during the Relevant Time, whether directly or indirectly, a director, officer, 
majority shareholder, partner, or controlling mind of any kind, provide those 
books and records to the Receiver, subject to privilege exceptions; 

b) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to: (i) provide any electronic devices (including any 
cellphone and laptop) he used in connection with the Company's business to 
Kroll Consulting Canada Co. (“Kroll”) or another third party information 
technology specialist agreed upon between the Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia 
to allow for both devices to be imaged and the data (the “Data”) uploaded to 
Relativity or another e-discovery platform acceptable to the Receiver and 
Mr. Nezami-Nia; and (ii) provide the Data to the Receiver, except for any 
correspondence with a lawyer or law firm; 

c) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to attend for an examination, with or without counsel, 
if served with a Notice of Examination by the Receiver, and to provide the 
Receiver at such examination with any non-privileged information requested by 
the Receiver related in any way to the Company and/or 680; and 

d) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to prepare and provide to the Receiver a sworn net 
worth statement and submit to examinations under oath in respect of same. 

5. Pursuant to the Timetable, it was contemplated that the purpose of the Responding 
Record would be to respond to the Adjourned Relief being sought by the Receiver. 

3.0 The Nezami-Nia Affidavit  

1. The Nezami-Nia Affidavit contains assertions that purport to address whether 
Mr. Nezami-Nia participated in fraudulent activity during his time with the Company. It 
generally does not respond to the Adjourned Relief, all of which is meant to provide 
the Receiver with further information and documentation in connection with its ongoing 
investigations into the Company and its affairs, including the use of Investor funds. 
Many of the assertions in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit demonstrate why obtaining further 
information and documentation from Mr. Nezami-Nia is necessary for the Receiver's 
ongoing investigations and recovery efforts.  

2. While the Nezami-Nia Affidavit objects to certain of the Receiver's findings set out in 
the Previous Reports, the Nezami-Nia Affidavit does not refute or, in certain cases, 
even address key findings of the Receiver, including, inter alia, that: 

a) Investor funds provided to the Company for the specific purpose of placing 
mortgages were instead transferred to 680, a company whose sole director and 
officer is Mr. Nezami-Nia;  

b) approximately $5.9 million was transferred in the last three years from the 
Company’s bank accounts to an account held by 680; 
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c) 680 paid at least $3.6 million of lifestyle expenses, including several credit 
cards, private school tuition, life insurance, and vehicle lease payments in the 
last three years (in fact, the Nezami-Nia Affidavit confirms that 680 paid for 
Mr. Nezami-Nia’s personal expenses, though he claims that these were 
legitimate reimbursements);  

d) a significant number of mortgages were discharged without funds being paid to 
Investors, notwithstanding that the funds received by the Company were to have 
been held in trust for the applicable Investors; and  

e) Investor funds were advanced to the Company for mortgages without those 
funds being transferred to borrowers for such mortgages. 

3. Even if all of the assertions in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit are to be taken at face value 
(which the Receiver does not), Mr. Nezami-Nia does not dispute that he used Investor 
funds for his own personal benefit. Further, he concedes that there were financial 
irregularities occurring in respect of the Company's business during his time as its 
sole director (though he denies responsibility for this), which further highlights the 
need for the Receiver to obtain the Adjourned Relief in connection with its ongoing 
investigations. 

4. Contrary to the assertions in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit, the Adjourned Relief does not 
contemplate that assets of Mr. Nezami-Nia will be frozen, and it is therefore not similar 
to relief that would be granted on a motion for a Mareva Injunction.  It is also not similar 
to a Norwich Order “attempting to obtain unrelated third-party information” given that 
all of the information and documentation being sought by the Receiver is directly from 
Mr. Nezami-Nia and relates directly to the affairs of the Company and its financial 
dealings. Specifically, the Adjourned Relief will allow the Receiver to gather 
information to advance its ongoing investigations and determine: (i) the basis for 
payments that were admittedly made to 680, and possibly to other companies in 
respect of which Mr. Nezami-Nia was a director, officer, majority shareholder, partner, 
or controlling mind of any kind; (ii) the extent of Mr. Nezami-Nia's involvement in the 
diversion and misuse of Investor funds; (iii) the extent to which Mr. Nezami-Nia 
personally benefitted from such misconduct; and (iv) the prospect of recoveries from 
assets acquired with funds from the Company.  

5. The Nezami-Nia Affidavit contains assertions that are unsubstantiated, 
uncorroborated by evidence, internally inconsistent and/or inconsistent with 
information and documentation that the Receiver has obtained from other sources. 
The Receiver does not intend to respond to each assertion in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit, 
and should not be taken to agree with the assertions in the Nezami-Nia affidavit simply 
because it has not directly responded to them here, but provides the following list of 
certain issues with the Nezami-Nia Affidavit:  

a) Mr. Nezami-Nia claims that 680 was “essentially responsible” for the majority of 
the Company's operating costs, without providing any evidence that would 
substantiate this claim and any explanation for why 680 would purportedly fund 
such expenses when the Company had an operating account from which such 
expenses could and should have been paid; 
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b) Mr. Nezami-Nia claims that the Company's annual expenses substantially 
exceeded $300,000 (which is inconsistent with the Audited Statements), without 
providing any evidence to substantiate this claim; 

c) Mr. Nezami-Nia states that, through shareholder and other loans he purportedly 
made to the Company, he provided millions of dollars of his own personal funds 
as start-up capital or to assist when the Company required cash flow.  No 
evidence to support this claim is provided, including source of capital, dates of 
advances, amounts of advances and dates of repayment. Notably, no 
shareholder loans are recorded in the Company's balance sheet contained 
within its audited financial statements for the 2014-2022 fiscal years. The 
Company’s audited financial statements are provided in Appendix “B”; 

d) despite being the sole director of the Company who was allegedly personally 
funding the Company’s activities, Mr. Nezami-Nia claims that he was effectively 
uninvolved in the Company's business activities for the past ten years. 
Apparently with little direct knowledge of the Company's operations or business, 
Mr. Nezami-Nia also asserts that he unilaterally decided that he would 
voluntarily take steps to wind-up the Company; and 

e) Mr. Nezami-Nia seems to indicate that any wrongdoing that occurred was 
perpetrated by Patrick Dookram, even though close to $6 million was transferred 
in the last three years to 680, a company controlled exclusively by Mr. Nezami-
Nia and in respect of which Mr. Nezami-Nia is the sole director and officer, which 
would provide Mr. Dookram with no apparent benefit. 

6. Mr. Nezami-Nia has not provided any credible basis as to why the Receiver should be 
denied the Adjourned Relief. Although Mr. Nezami-Nia denies wrongdoing, the 
assertions he makes in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit support the granting of the Adjourned 
Relief so that the Receiver may assess the assertions in the Nezami-Nia Affidavit with 
the benefit of supporting documentation.  

7. The Previous Reports prepared by the Receiver were based on its findings to date in 
its investigation. The Receiver maintains that the Previous Reports were accurate 
based on the information that was available to the Receiver at the time, and the 
Receiver further maintains that the Previous Reports remain accurate in all material 
respects as of the date of this Second Supplemental Report2.  

8. Mr. Nezami-Nia asserts in the Nezami-Nia affidavit that the Previous Reports are 
"unverifiable, incomplete and unreliable" due to the qualifications contained in the 
Previous Reports. The qualifications set out in the Previous Reports are standard 
language used by court officers when preparing reports to the Court and reflect that 
the Receiver is not acting as an auditor and has not audited the financial information 
received.  

                                                
2 The Receiver notes that Mr. Nezami-Nia correctly identified a typographical error in the Supplemental Report – as set out in Appendix 
"B" to the Supplemental Report, the first date in the table at paragraph 8(b) should have been August 31, 2017, not August 31, 2007. 



ksv advisory inc. Page 6 

4.0 Position of FSRA 

1. The Nezami-Nia Affidavit makes several comments regarding FSRA, including with
respect to the affidavit of Cameron Clark of FSRA affirmed on March 15, 2023 and
filed in connection with these proceedings.

2. A letter from FSRA's counsel which addresses certain of the issues it identified related
to the content of the Nezami-Nia Affidavit as it relates to FSRA is provided as
Appendix “C”.

5.0 Initial Information from Auditor 

1. The Receiver requested that the Auditor provide information related to the Company
and 680 following issuance of the Ancillary Order.

2. On June 5, 2023, the Auditor provided information regarding the following:

a) 680, including:

i. 680’s minute book, which reflects that Mr. Nezami-Nia is the sole
shareholder of 680.  This is consistent with 680’s tax filings with Canada
Revenue Agency, as provided in Appendix “D”; and

ii. Engagement letters, tax returns and other accounting information for the
years ended July 31, 2014 to July 31, 2017.  680’s most recent balance sheet
as at July 31, 2017 (the “680 Balance Sheet”) reflects that 680’s assets
included a “Total Loan Receivable (farm expenses)” of $1.9 million, an
“Investment with Fund” of $115,000 and a “Loan Receivable-Investment Co”
of $207,000, and that its liabilities were a shareholder loan of $3.5 million
purportedly from Mr. Nezami-Nia, with no supporting documentation.  A copy
of the 680 Balance Sheet is provided as Appendix “E”;

b) 9806881 Canada Corp. (“980”), which appears to be a farming business
associated with 680 and Mr. Nezami-Nia3, and which also operated from the
same premises as the Company.  The information provided includes:

i. Invoices for aviation equipment, three vehicles, fencing, farming supplies,
computer and office equipment;

ii. Engagement letters issued to William Nezami, tax returns and other
accounting information for the years ended June 30, 2016 to June 30,
2020.  980’s most recent balance sheet as at June 30, 2020 reflects that
980 had assets of approximately $3 million (including fixed assets of
$1.6 million) and that its liabilities included a shareholder loan of $692,000
and an intercompany payable of $5.9 million (the identity of the related

3 980 is a federally incorporated company, with an extra-provincial registration in Ontario. The Ontario profile report for 980 indicates 
that the Chief Officer or Manager of 980 is “R N”, which is an acronym that corresponds to the name of Mr. Nezami-Nia. The Ontario 
profile report further notes that "R N" is a director and the person authorizing filing in respect of 980's initial return. The Ontario profile 
report is provided as Appendix "F" together with the federal profile report for 980. The federal profile report indicates that "F. Yavari" 
is a director of 980. The Receiver has no knowledge as to the relationship between "F. Yavari" and Mr. Nezami-Nia. 
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party is not shown).  A copy of 980’s financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2020 is provided  as Appendix “G”; 

iii. Correspondence between the Auditor and a party that appears to 
represent 980 (the “980 Auditor Correspondence”) from September 2018 
which includes a comment that “the Farm Company [980] does not have 
a Bank Account all funds are provided by the Cash Management 
Company”.  The Receiver understands from its discussions with the 
Auditor that 980 did not have its own bank account and instead used 680’s 
bank account.  The 980 Auditor Correspondence is provided as Appendix 
“H”. 

c) 10013536 Canada Corp. ("1001"), which is the entity that acquired the Premises 
in December 2016.  This is the same premises where the Company operated 
from prior to this proceeding and is the same address used by 680 and 980 in 
their tax filings and other correspondence.  The information provided by the 
Auditor included: 

i. An agreement of purchase and sale between Mr. Nezami-Nia or a 
company to be incorporated, as buyer, and Behrouz Ehsani-Yeganeh, as 
seller, dated June 13, 2016, contemplating a purchase of the Premises for 
$580,000; 

ii. A “Trust Ledger Statement” addressed to Mr. Nezami-Nia dated 
December 28, 2016 from counsel that represented 1001.  The statement 
references that the purchase price (net of the $50,000 deposit) of 
$542,687.34 (inclusive of closing costs) was funded by a mortgage of 
$388,500 and a payment from 1001 of $154,187.34; 

iii. A “Statement of Advance” dated December 28, 2016 from counsel that 
appears to have represented the mortgagee.  A copy of the 
documentation from the Auditor related to 1001 is collectively provided as 
Appendix “I”. 

3. The Receiver is continuing its review of the information from the Auditor and is 
awaiting responses to additional information requests. 

4. As it relates to 1001, the Receiver traced the funds used by 1001 to purchase the 
Premises ($154,187.34) to an account at Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) that was held by 
680.  The Receiver further traced the source of the funds as being transfers from 
accounts held by the Company, also at BMO.  Copies of the account statements 
relating to this tracing are provided as Appendix “J”. 

5. 1001 is a federally incorporated company, with an extra-provincial registration in 
Ontario.  The Ontario profile report for 1001 indicates that the Chief Officer or Manager 
of 1001 is “R Nezami”, which the Receiver believes to be Mr. Nezami-Nia.  The Ontario 
profile report further notes that “R Nezami” is a director and the person authorizing 
filing in respect of 1001's initial return.  The Ontario profile report is provided as 
Appendix “K” together with the federal profile report for 1001.  The federal profile 
report for 1001 indicates that "F. Yavari" is a director of 1001. The Receiver has no 
knowledge as to the relationship between “F. Yavari” and Mr. Nezami-Nia; however, 
the Receiver notes that “F. Yavari” is listed as a director of both 1001 and 980 on their 
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respective federal profile reports, indicating a further connection between these 
entities and Mr. Nezami-Nia. 

6.0 Correspondence with Alleged Landlord 

1. On June 12, 2023, counsel for the Receiver and other parties, including Mr. Nezami-
Nia’s counsel and Goldhar & Associates Ltd., the Company’s licensed insolvency 
trustee (the “Trustee”), received correspondence from an individual apparently named 
Alex with a non-descript email address (Y7191911@outlook.com), purporting to act 
on behalf of 1001 as the owner and landlord of the Premises.  This party alleged that, 
among other things, rent is past due, hydro and utilities have been disconnected due 
to non-payment, the insurance on the Premises has lapsed and the Premises has 
fallen into a state of disrepair.  In this correspondence, Alex advised that “we are 
intending to take full possession of our property this Friday June 16, 2023”. 

2. The Receiver understands that the Trustee attended at the Premises and changed 
the locks upon the Company’s assignment in bankruptcy on March 15, 2023. 

3. Counsel for the Receiver responded to this correspondence to request a copy of the 
rental agreement and account statement.  Alex did not provide the requested 
documentation but instead responded with a series of inquiries and advised that 
unless the Receiver confirmed it would bring the Premises into compliance condition 
and restore all services immediately, Alex had “no interest or intention to delay or 
negotiate anything”. 

4. Despite follow-up correspondence from counsel for the Receiver requesting the rental 
agreement and account statement, and setting out the legal basis for this request, 
Alex refused to provide the documentation. 

5. A copy of this chain of correspondence is provided as Appendix “L”. 

6. As of the date of this Second Supplemental Report, the Receiver has not been 
provided with the requested documentation. The Receiver presently has no 
knowledge regarding the identity of Alex or his/her authority to represent 1001. As 
1001 acquired the Premises with funds from 680 that ultimately came from accounts 
held by the Company at BMO, and the Ontario profile report for 1001 identifies “R 
Nezami” as the Chief Officer or Manager and a director of 1001, it appears that Mr. 
Nezami-Nia is affiliated with this entity. 

7.0 The Adjourned Relief 

1. The Receiver continues to be of the view that the Adjourned Relief is necessary for it 
and the Company’s creditors to understand the financial dealings of the Company and 
events that precipitated the insolvency proceedings.  The granting of the Adjourned 
Relief is also fair and reasonable having regard to, among other things, the 
informational imbalance between Mr. Nezami-Nia as the sole director of both the 
Company and 680, on the one hand, and the creditors of the Company, including 
Investors, on the other hand.  The Adjourned Relief appropriately balances the 
interests of all parties, including Mr. Nezami-Nia, and the Receiver is of the view that 
the balance of convenience favours the granting of the Adjourned Relief.   

mailto:Y7191911@outlook.com
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2. Part of the Adjourned Relief contemplates that Mr. Nezami-Nia will provide his 
electronic devices to a third-party information technology specialist to allow that data 
to be imaged and turned over to the Receiver (other than any privileged information). 
Mr. Nezami-Nia indicates in his affidavit that he has already provided his cellphone 
and laptop to his counsel. However, to date, he has not agreed to make the contents 
of these devices available to the Receiver, even with the Receiver's suggestion that a 
third-party ensure that no privileged information is provided to the Receiver. The 
Receiver would also be prepared to agree to a protocol that would ensure family 
photos or other personal items with no relevance to this matter are not shared with 
the Receiver, which appears to be a concern of Mr. Nezami-Nia. 

3. The Receiver is of the view that the Adjourned Relief is carefully tailored only to what 
is necessary to assist its investigation without prejudice to Mr. Nezami-Nia. The 
Adjourned Relief may assist the Receiver's investigation into the potential wrongdoing 
at the Company and provide valuable information on potential avenues of recovery 
for the benefit of the Investors who are owed over $25 million, with no apparent 
prejudice to Mr. Nezami-Nia arising from his production of the requested 
documentation and information. No such prejudice was raised in the Nezami-Nia 
Affidavit.  

4. For the reasons set out herein and in the Previous Reports, the Receiver respectfully 
requests that this Court grant the Adjourned Relief. 

*     *     * 

All of which is respectfully submitted, 

 
KSV RESTRUCTURING INC., 
SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS RECEIVER OF  
FIRST SWISS MORTGAGE CORP.  
AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL OR IN ANY OTHER CAPACITY 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 
 

ENDORSEMENT 
 

COURT FILE NO.: CV-23-00696362-00CL DATE: May 29, 2023 

 

 

TITLE OF PROCEEDING: CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER V FIRST SWISS MORT CORP 

 

BEFORE: Madam Justice STEELE   

 

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION 
 
For Plaintiff, Applicant, Moving Party: 

Name of Person Appearing Name of Party Contact Info 
Sean Zweig / Thomas Gray Lawyers for the Receiver zweigs@bennettjones.com / 

grayt@bennettjones.com 
   

   

   

 
For Defendant, Respondent, Responding Party: 

Name of Person Appearing Name of Party Contact Info 

Cullen, Laura Lawyer for FSRA LauraC@chaitons.com  

Mitch Vininsky, Nisan 
Thurairatnam  

KSV Restructuring Inc.  mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com; 
NThurairatnam@ksvadvisory.com  

Mark Adilman  Lawyer for Winnick Realty Corp. 
and Winrep Holdings Inc.  

madilman@mblaw.ca  

Yana Papanyan  Former lead underwriter of First 
Swiss  

yana.pa2021@gmail.com  

 
For Other, Self-Represented: 

Name of Person Appearing Name of Party Contact Info 

Kyriazakos, George represents an investor, Cedric 
Daley 

George@gklawfirmpc.com 

   

NO. ON LIST:  
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ENDORSEMENT 

[1] This is a motion (heard May 19, 2023 via Zoom) by KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”), in its capacity as the 
receiver of all of the assets of First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (“First Swiss”) for: 

• An order (the "Ancillary Order"), among other things:  

i. directing each borrower with an active mortgage registered in favour of the Company 
(collectively, the "Borrowers") to pay to the Receiver (and not any other party) all 
principal, interest and other payments as and when due under such Borrower's mortgage;  

ii. directing Shinhan Bank Canada ("Shinhan"), which the Receiver understands to have been 
the bank where the Company and 6807771 Canada Corp. ("680"), the Company’s sole 
shareholder, most recently held their accounts, to provide certain information requested 
by the Receiver as it relates to the Company’s accounts and those of 680;  

iii. directing Bank of Montreal ("BMO") (i) to provide the Receiver with all available 
information regarding the Company's and 680's historical accounts with BMO since 
January 1, 2014, and (ii) to advise the Receiver whether account 00022/1565844 is owned 
or controlled by Reza Nezami-Nia, the Company's sole named director, or one of the 
Company's other principals, and if so, to provide the Receiver with account statements 
for the last 12 months, or such longer period as the Receiver may request;  

iv. directing Mr. Nezami-Nia, 680, and the Company's auditor, Syed A. Raza Professional 
Corporation (the "Auditor"), to provide the Receiver with all nonprivileged books and 
records in their possession related to the Company and 680;  

v. directing that Mr. Nezami-Nia, the Auditor and any other party having in its possession or 
control books or records relating to the period since January 1, 2014 (the "Relevant 
Time"), for any entity in which Mr. Nezami-Nia is or was during the Relevant Time, 
whether directly or indirectly, a director, officer, majority shareholder, partner, or 
controlling mind of any kind, subject to privilege exceptions;  

vi. directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to (i) provide any electronic devices (including any cellphone 
and laptop) he used in connection with the Company's business to Kroll Consulting 
Canada Co. ("Kroll") or another third party information technology specialist agreed upon 
between the Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia to allow for both devices to be imaged and the 
data (the "Data") uploaded to Relativity or another ediscovery platform acceptable to the 
Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia; and (ii) provide the Data to the Receiver, except for any 
correspondence with a lawyer or law firm;  

vii. directing Mr. Nezami-Nia, Patrick Dookram (the Company's former Vice President of 
Trading and Portfolio Management), Yana Papanyan (the Company's former Lead 
Underwriter) and/or any other parties with information relevant to this proceeding to 
attend for an examination, with or without counsel, if served with a Notice of Examination 



3 
 

by the Receiver, and to provide the Receiver at such examination with any non-privileged 
information requested by the Receiver related in any way to the Company and/or 680;  

viii. directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to prepare and provide to the Receiver a sworn net worth 
statement and submit to examinations under oath in respect of same;  

ix. declaring that the Investors do not have trust claims against the Company, including in 
respect of mortgages registered by the Company;  

x. approving the fees of the Receiver and its counsel, Bennett Jones LLP ("Bennett Jones"); 
and  

xi. approving the Receiver's activities as set out in the Second Report of the Receiver dated 
May 12, 2023 and the First Report of the Receiver dated March 31, 2023. 2.  

• An order (the "Amended Appointment Order"), among other things:  

i. approving the loan agreement entered into between the Receiver and certain Investors 
(the "Loan Agreement"), and certain related relief;  

ii. amending paragraph 30 of the Appointment Order to include the fees and disbursements 
of Marciano Beckenstein LLP ("Marciano"), counsel to one of the Investors, incurred up 
to March 27, 2023; and  

iii. granting the Receiver certain additional typical powers that were removed from the 
Appointment Order to limit the Receiver's initial mandate. 

[2] At the outset, the Receiver advised that certain issues pertaining to Mr. Nezami-Nia have been adjourned 
on consent.  The schedule for those items is set out below. 

Amended Appointment Order 

[3] There was no objection raised to the relief sought with regard to the amendment of the appointment 
order.  Among other things, the Receiver asks that certain powers that were not included when the appointment 
order was granted, which are typical in receiverships, be included. Given that the Receiver’s role has expanded, 
it is appropriate to include the powers that are typically granted. 

[4] The Receiver indicated that following the last Court attendance, Dancap, the largest investor, formed an 
ad hoc investor advisory committee which consists of a representative from Dancap and representatives from 
four other large investors (the “Advisory Committee”).  The Receiver worked with the Advisory Committee to 
prepare a loan agreement, which was provided to all known investors to present the opportunity and allow 
them to participate.  It provides for a loan of up to $400,000 at a 15% interest rate, compounded semi annually, 
and payable on maturity.  The loan obligations are to be secured by the Receiver’s borrowing charge and the 
loan principal will rank senior to all other creditors (pari passu with FSRA’s loan), other than the Receiver’s 
charge for fees.  The interest of the loan will rank immediately following the loan principal/FSRA loan. 

[5] The Receiver advised that it has received approx. $335,000 of the $400,000 from about 30 lenders. 

[6] The Receiver recommends that the Court approve the loan agreement for numerous reasons, including: 
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• The Loan Agreement was developed with and is supported by the Investor Advisory Committee: 

• All known Investors were provided the opportunity to participate in the Loan; and  

• The Loan will allow the Receiver to further advance this proceeding. 

[7] I am satisfied that the Loan Agreement is appropriate. 

Ancillary Order 

[8] The relief sought (other than the adjourned relief) in the Ancillary Order is generally unopposed other 
than the direction for Yana Papanyan to attend at an examination with or without counsel if served with a Notice 
of Examination and to provide any non-privileged materials.  This is discussed below.  I also requested additional 
information from the Receiver regarding the request for a declaration that investors do not have trust claims 
against the company, which is also addressed below. 

[9] The Receiver seeks for greater certainty language in the Order to make it easier for borrowers to 
understand who they are to pay.  In the circumstances, where there are multiple borrowers confused as to who 
they should be paying, this is an appropriate order to make.  

[10] The Receiver seeks information from Shinhan Bank and BMO in respect of certain accounts.  No person, 
including Mr. Nezami-Nia, opposes this relief. 

Attendance at Examinations/production of information 

[11] Under the Mortgage Brokers, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 29, at s. 37(2), the 
Court may impose such conditions as the court considers appropriate. 

[12] Under the initial appointment order, the Receiver was given broad powers, including the power: 

3(d) to have access to all electronic storage and record databases, including but not limited to, 
icloud, email inboxes, dropbox, and to examine and make copies of any document or record 
contained therein; 

3(g) to deliver notices of examination to and examine any person (including, without limitation, 
Reza Nezami, Patrick Dookram, and any other officer, director, or employee of the Debtor) under 
oath who has knowledge of the business and affairs of the Debtor; 

[13]   The initial order gives the Receiver the power to examine any person under oath, who has knowledge 
of the business and affairs of the Debtor, which would include Yana Papanyan. The Receiver wants further clarity 
in the Order regarding the requirement to attend at examinations where a Notice of Examination is served, 
whether with or without counsel.  As noted above, Yana Papanyan, has indicated that she will not attend an 
examination without counsel.   

[14] Ms. Papanyan did not provide any legitimate basis for her refusal to attend at an examination. 

[15] The Receiver, in its Second Report, notes that there is a significant discrepancy between the active 
mortgage registrations held by the Company compared to the value of the mortgages that the Company had 
been reporting.  Further, the Receiver states that there have been inconsistencies related to the information 
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provided by Mr. Nezami-Nia compared with the information provided by Mr. Dookram.  Accordingly, the 
Receiver considers it appropriate to examine parties under oath. 

[16] Ms. Papanyan has informed the Receiver that she cannot afford to retain counsel and she did not qualify 
for legal aid.  Ms. Papanyan asks that the estate pay for her counsel.  The Receiver’s position is that this is not a 
cost that ought to be borne by the estate. 

[17] I agree with the Receiver that this is not a cost that the estate should be required to cover.   

Declaration re Trust Claims 

[18] The Receiver asks the Court to grant declaratory relief in respect of the non-existence of trust claims and 
seeks the following order: 

This court orders and declares that the parties that advanced funds to the Debtor in respect of 
intended mortgage investments do not have valid trust claims against the Debtor, including in 
respect of any mortgages registered by the Debtor. 

[19] I requested additional submissions from the Receiver regarding its request to include this relief.  The 
Receiver states that it is not uncommon for courts to grant declaratory relief in the context of insolvency 
proceedings, and cites the following examples: 

• Declaring that certain claims against a debtor company were “equity claims” [Sino-Forest Corp., 
Re, 2012 ONSC 4377; Order dated July 27, 2012, Sino-Forest Corp., Re, Court File No. CV-12-9667-
00CL]. 

• Declaring that certain directors subject to litigation had the benefit of certain releases [Fraser 
Papers Inc., Re, 2012 ONSC 4882]. 

• Declaring that receiver’s demand on a performance bond was proper and declaring that the 
performance bond obliged the counterparty to elect one of four options in the performance bond 
[Order dated September 25, 2019, In the Matter of the Receivership of 2423402 Ontario Inc., 
Court File No. CV-18-610236-00CL]. 

[20] The Receiver did not provide the Court with an example of another matter where declaratory relief such 
as that sought in respect of the potential trust claims has been previously granted. 

[21] The Receiver submits that similar to the Sino-Forest case, (i) it has been clear since the outset of these 
proceedings that this issue – whether the claims of Investors would be considered trust claims – would have to 
be determined, and (ii) no party can be said to be prejudiced if this threshold issue is determined at this time 
because the threshold issue does not depend upon a determination of quantification of any claim.   

[22] However, Sino-Forest is different.  Sino-Forest was proceeding under the Creditors’ Companies 
Arrangement Act (“CCAA”).  The company sought an order directing that certain claims, resulting from the 
ownership of an equity interest in SFC, were “equity claims” as defined in s. 2 of the CCAA.  The Court was 
essentially asked to make a determination whether certain claims were creditor claims or equity claims.  This 
issue was put squarely before the Court with a full record.  That is not the case here.   
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[23] The Receiver states that granting this declaratory relief will provide certainty regarding the use of funds 
repaid by borrowers, avoid potential costly disputes in the future, and allow the Receiver to focus its efforts on 
its investigation and recovery for the benefit of the Investors and other creditors. 

[24] While I understand that a declaration of the type requested may be desirable, based the record before 
me I am unable to grant this declaration.  Whether a trust exists at law is determined based on whether the 
three certainties have been met.  If there is a trust relationship, the beneficiary of the trust would presumably 
have certain rights.  There are documents that have previously been provided to the Court that suggest there 
may have been an intention to create one or more trust relationships (see, for example exhibit A to the affidavit 
of Rose Baum, dated March 15, 2023, exhibit C to the affidavit of Daniel Baum, dated March 15, 2023, exhibit A 
to the affidavit of Jared Green, dated March 15, 2023, exhibit A to the affidavit of Elias Toby, dated March 15, 
2023).  Paragraph 12 of the affidavit of Daniel Baum states: “Pursuant to the terms of the mortgage loan 
servicing agreement and the trust and beneficial owner agreement dated April 18, 2011 ..., I was the beneficial 
owner of the Heatherleigh Mortgage.  These terms reflect First Swiss’ representations that investors fully owned 
the mortgages which they invested in.” 

[25] The Receiver’s First Report and Second Report notes that “the accounts were not used in a manner that 
would be consistent with a trust.”  There may be issues of breaches of trust related to the handling of trust 
funds (including funds being improperly applied or transferred between accounts), but that does not negate a 
trust relationship if one exists.   

[26] The First Report of the Receiver provides in section 6.3(d) (and the Second Report in section 9(3)(e)) that 
“to the extent that strict rules of a trust did exist ... the Receiver is aware of case law providing that the 
application of strict legal rules has been set aside in favour of rateable sharing in certain circumstances, including 
the existence of a Ponzi scheme.”  This case law may be of assistance to the Court. 

[27] At the very least, it is premature for the Court to make this declaration and, it certainly cannot be made 
on the record before me. 

Receiver’s Fees and Expenses 

[28] The Receiver seeks approval of its fees and expenses and those of its counsel.  The fees of the Receiver 
and Bennett Jones from the commencement of the proceeding to April 30, 2023 total $126,766 and $141,292, 
respectively, plus disbursements and HST.  Fee affidavits have been provided. 

[29] Under s. 37(7) of the Mortgage Brokers, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 29 the 
receiver’s fees and expenses are in the discretion of the Court. 

[30] In determining whether to approve the fees and disbursements in a receivership under the Bankruptcy 
and Insolvency Act, the Court should consider whether the fees incurred in carrying out the receivership were 
fair and reasonable taking into consideration, among other things, the factors set out in Bank of Nova Scotia v. 
Diemer, 2014 ONCA 851, at paras. 33 and 45.  These factors include the nature, extent and value of the assets, 
the complications and difficulties encountered, the Receiver’s knowledge and skill, the responsibilities assumed 
and the result of the Receiver’s efforts.  In my view, these factors ought to similarly apply to a receivership under 
the MBLAA. 

[31] There was no opposition raised to this relief.  I note that Ms. Papanyan referred to the quantum of the 
legal costs of the Receiver and its counsel when making her request for payment of legal fees out of the estate. 
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[32] The Receiver is of the view that Bennett Jones’ hourly rates are consistent with the rates charged by 
other law firms practicing in the restructuring area in Toronto.  The Receiver is of the view that its fees are 
reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 

[33] I am satisfied that the fees and expenses are fair and reasonable. 

Adjournment of Certain Relief 

[34] The Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia have agreed to adjourn the following relief that was originally sought 
by the Receiver as part of the Ancillary Order (collectively, the "Adjourned Relief"):  

(a) directing that Mr. Nezami-Nia, the Auditor and any other party having in its possession or 
control books or records relating to the period since January 1, 2014 (the "Relevant Time"), 
for any entity in which Mr. Nezami-Nia is or was during the Relevant Time, whether directly 
or indirectly, a director, officer, majority shareholder, partner, or controlling mind of any kind, 
to provide those books and records to the Receiver, subject to privilege exceptions;  

(b) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to (i) provide any electronic devices (including any cellphone 
and laptop) he used in connection with the Company's business to Kroll Consulting Canada 
Co. ("Kroll") or another third party information technology specialist agreed upon between 
the Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia to allow for both devices to be imaged and the data (the 
"Data") uploaded to Relativity or another e-discovery platform acceptable to the Receiver 
and Mr. Nezami-Nia; and (ii) provide the Data to the Receiver, except for any correspondence 
with a lawyer or law firm;  

(c) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to attend for an examination, with or without counsel, if served 
with a Notice of Examination by the Receiver, and to provide the Receiver at such 
examination with any non-privileged information requested by the Receiver related in any 
way to the Company and/or 680;  

(d) directing Mr. Nezami-Nia to prepare and provide to the Receiver a sworn net worth 
statement and submit to examinations under oath in respect of same.  

[35] The Receiver and Mr. Nezami-Nia have agreed to the following timetable for the return of the motion in 
respect of the Adjourned Relief:  

• Responding materials of Mr. Nezami-Nia - May 31 by 5:00 p.m.  

• Reply materials of the Receiver, if any - June 5  

• Cross-examination of affiant(s) by counsel to the Receiver - June 7  

• Submission of written interrogatories to Receiver on its Reports - June 7 [should the Receiver’s 
reply materials include affidavit evidence, counsel to Mr. Nezami-Nia reserves the right to cross 
examine on any such affidavit on June 7] 

• Receiver's responses to written interrogatories - June 12  

• Written follow up questions regarding Receiver's responses to written interrogatories - June 15 
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• Factum of the Receiver - June 16  

• Receiver's written response to follow up questions - June 19  

• Factum of Mr. Nezami-Nia - June 23  

• Reply factum of the Receiver, if any - June 27  

• Hearing of motion for Adjourned Relief – July 27 at 10 am (2 hours); provided that if that date is 
not acceptable to the parties, they may reach out to the trial coordinator to reschedule. 

[36] Orders attached. 

 

 

 

________________________________________ 
Madam Justice STEELE 

Date:  May 29, 2023 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.

Financial Statements
Augusl 31, 2014
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March lb. 2015

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
First Swiss Mortgage Corp.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of First Swiss Mortgage Corp, which comprise

the balance sheet as at August 31, 2014 arid the statements of operations and deficit arid cash flows for the

year then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in

acrordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted

our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 11w purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the entiN’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 1w management. as ivcll as evaluating the

overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 511 hicient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

lu (lit opinion.

I’I’u’crcotcrllorise(’oopei’s LLP
North A rllericu TI C ‘clltrc, 5701) )OH(Jc St ieeE SI site 1(100, North YOrk, Oil Lu no, (‘a 11(1(1(1 fl’12 ñ I qkv

7’: 1 416 i8 1501), F: + 1 416 ElS 1499

to Prir.owoter[ousocoopurs 11 F or Or tori !im;r€.d iiob’rty r;LrIriL’tStiit
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements uresent fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi 12Cm 01

First Swiss Mortgage Corp as at August 31, 2014 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the

‘ear then ended in accorriance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Babnce Sheet
As at Augusl 31. 2014

Assets

Current assets

2014
$

2013
$

Accounts receivable
Security deposit (note 3)
Prepaid expenses and sundry assets

16,822 8,706
25,000 25,000

3,657

—

_____

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness (note 4)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5)

Loan payable (note 6)

Shareholders’ Deficiency

Capital stock (note 7)

Deficit

45479 38,505

4 12,937
127,569 127,685

127,573 140,622

21,819 61,271

149.392 201893

310,100 310.100

(414,013) (473,488)

(103,913) (163,388)

45,479 38,505

Contingent liabilities (note 10)

Approved on Behalf of the Board

flirector

The iccompanving notes are an integral pa of these financial statements.



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Earnings and Deficit

For the year ended August 31, 2014

2014 2013
$ S

1,596
778,565

146
574,104

780,161

_________

574,252

Revenue
Mortgage interest
Fees and other income

Expenses
General and administration
Rent
Wages and benefits
Loss on loan guarantee

Earnings before undernoted items

Loss on misappropriation of assets (note 11)

Net earnings for the year

Deficit - Beginning of year

Deficit - End of year

128,000
102,064
347,706

127,267
69,236

351,250
58.916 -

636686 567.753

143.475 6,499

84.000 -

59,475 6,499

(473,488) (479,987)

(414,013) (473,488)

‘[he accompanying notes are an intcral part of these financial statements.



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended August 31, 2014

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Net earrnngs for the year
Changes in working capital items

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and
Accounts payable and

Investing activities
Security deposit

Financing activities
Bank indebtedness
Loan payable

Change in cash during the year

Cash - Beginning of year

Cash - End of year

Non-cash transactions
Cancellation of common shares
Sale of interest in subsidiary

2014
S

2013
$

52,385 32.20L

- (25,000)

(12,933) 12,937
(39,452) (23,503)

(52.385) (10.566)

- (3.365)

- 3,365

- (470,000)
- 470.000

sundry assets
accrued habilities

59,475 6,499

(8,116)
1,142
(116)

____—

(4.464)
(1.626)
31,792

1’hc accompanying notes are an inlegra[ part of these Hnancia statements.



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements
August 31, 2014

Nature of operations

h’irst Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the company) was incorporated on September ió, 1004 under the (‘anada Business

Corporations Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerages, Lenders and Administrators Act,

2006 (the Act). The company is a non—bank lender providing residential real estate finance and also

adminisi cr5 mortgages on behalf of its investors.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards fur private

enterprises (ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly
significant.

Mortgage investments

The company measures its investment in mortgages at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline iS,
Investment Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of earnings

and deficit. Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length transaction
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of the mortgages

approximates their carn’ing value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term loans (typically
maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the borrower without penaiw orvield
maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages would be made at the same or similar
terms based on the hind manager’s assessment of the current mortgage market. When collection of the
principal on a mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the
estimated net realizable value of the underMng security.

Conventional first mortgages are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to values not
exceeding 7596. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority charge

with loans to values exceeding 756. Mortgages are staled at fair value in accordance with Accounting
Guideline iS. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment represents the total

amount of management’s estimate of the shortfall between the mortgage investment principal balances and the
estimated net realizable recover-v from the collateral securing the mortgage loans related to mortgage
investments where collection of principal is no longer assured.

Where appropriate, management makes a specific provision for loan losses.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis.

Mortgaue administration fees for administering the modagcs on behalf of the investors are accounted for on
an accrual basis.

(1)



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements
August 31,2014

_____ _____ ______- ___________

Mortgage arrangement lees arc amortized over the expected term of tne mortgage. ha mortgage is sold, an;

remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the period of sale.

Use of estimates

Ike preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during

the reporting period. Actual results could other from those estimates. Estimates are used in the accrual of

interest income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant changes in

assumptions could materially change the recorded carrying value. ‘Chose estimates are reviewed periodically

and as adjustments become necessary’ they are represented in earnings in the period in which they become

known.

Financial instruments

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-

arm’s length transactions.

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any impairment.

except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank indebtedness, and accounts

payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value each year-end. Amortization is

recorded on a straight-line basis.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of possible

impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the reversal is

recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment.

3 Security deposit

2014 2013
$ $

Represents funds held in trust by lawyer 25000
Represents guaranteed investment certificate for regulatory

comphance purposes with a yield of 1.75% per annum maturing
February 9, 2014 -

--_____

25,000 25,000

4 Bank indebtedness

The amount represents a bank overdraft (201:1 - represents a book overdraft).

(2)



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements
August 31, 2014

Government remittances

Government remittances consist of amounts such as property taxes, sales taxes and payroll withholding taxes

required to he paid to government authorities and are recognized when the amounts come due. In respect of

government remittances, $5,854 (2013 — 57,598) is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

6 Loan payable

2014
$

2013
$

Payable to a company having significan: influence, non-interest
bearing with no specific terms of repayment; the holders of the
debt have agreed in writing not to demand payment over the
next fiscal year

7 Capital stock

Authorized
Unlimited common shares

Issued

310 000 common shares

S R&atcd party transactions

21,819 61,271

2014 2013
$ $

310,100 310,100

General and administration
Rent
Wages and benefits 48.000

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts in

these financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the

exchange value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related entity.

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity:

2014 2013
$ $

22. 331
1 02,C64

67. 998
89,236
41. 000

(:3)



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements
August 31. 2014

9 Risk management

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may he unable to honour their mortgage

commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic conditions in

Canada could result in declines in the value of real property securing [he company’s mortgage investments. The

company mitigates its risk Lw the following:

• ensuring a comprehensive doe diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior to

funding: this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent consultants.

lawyers and appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers;

• ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and

• actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2014 is the fair value of its mortgage investments, which

totals Snil (2013 - Snil).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they come

due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of mortgage

investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and

requirements to ensure cash is efficiently utilized.

10 Contingent liabilities

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending agreements

with borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the pad of the borrowers for their entitlement to

unadvanced funds. The unadvanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio amounted to Snil (2013 - Snil).

No provision for this obligation has been recorded in the financial statements.

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage payment

is over go days past due. the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the company’s discretion:

U) to replace the mortgage with a performing one: (H) to buy back the mortgage: or (iii) default management

senices whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real estate commissions related to (lefault

management and will have the right to recuperate these costs from the excess proceeds of the property sale after

the investor has received the (minds owed to them. As at August 31, 2014, the company recorded 815,000 as a

provision against potential costs that may arise from investors exercising tius option. As at August 31, 2014, the

cumulative prox’ision carried in the books was in the amount of 865,000.

(4)



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes to Financial Statements

August 32, 2014

ii Loss on misappropriation of assets

Pu ring the ‘ear, the (‘hid lZjn,ncijl officer tra asfened S84,000 to a personal ha nl acoiin I without

authorization. ‘I’his person is no longer with the company.

12 Income taxes

The company has non—capital losses for income tax purposes as at August 31, 2014 of S329,578 (2013—

S4o4,221), which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows:

2031
2032

$

182,192
147, 3 86

The potential benefit relating to the available losses has not been recorded in the financial statements.

2014
$

13 Mortgages under athninistration

2013

PrinDipal due from borrowers
Assets held in trust

Investors’ funds
Monies in trust due to investors

14 Comparative figures

$

11,256,636 6,729,924

Certain accounts in the prior years financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes to

conformwith the presentation in the current year’s financial statements.

312.985 295.561

11.569.621 7,026,485

11,256,636 6,729,924
312,985 — 296,561

11,569,621 7.026,485

(5)
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DMSION

To whom it may concern,

Attached please find an audited report and financial statements for First Swiss
Mortgage Corp. (Lie:H956).

Should you have any questions regarding the attached report please contact me
at (416) 227-2001)

Best regards,

Reza Nezami
Broker of Record
First Swiss Mortgage Corp.



ma Pqc.t,.:.. Certified General
•CCCLINIANT Accountants

Name Your Need

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation
Licensed Public Accountant

March 9,2016

Registrar of Mortgage Brokers
Suite 2800, Box12116
555 1st Hasting Street
VancouverBCV6B4N6
Canada.

Telephone: + 1604 660 3555 Toll Free: + 1866 206 3030
Email: ficomficombc.ca Ibsite: www.fic.gov.bc.ca

From 15— Accountant Report

To: The Registrar of Mortgage Brokers:

At the request of Reza Nezami being the Designated Individual for First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the mortgage
broker), I have conducted certain procedures on the books, records, and accounts maintained by the mortgage broker
for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2015

In preparing this report, I have:

1. Read Section 6 of the Mortgage Brokers Act Regulations and the Conditions of Registration,

2. Obtained a signed copy of the Mortgage Broker’s Representation to the Register of Mortgage Brokers,

and

3, Signed an Engagement Letter between Auditor’s and Client, dated February 5,2016

My examination was guided by the criteria established by the Mortgage Brokers, Lenders and Administrators Act 2006,
applicable to mortgage administrators with trust funds as noted in the engagement letter dated February 5,2016
(attached) and with respect to the work performed, First Swis5 Mortgage Corp. was not in compliance with Section 3 of
Ontario Regulation 193/08 (Reporting Requirements for Licensees).

I have forwarded a copy of the report to the Designated Individual and have discussed the contents of the report with
the Designated Individual.

Suite #803- 2S0 Consumers Road, Tnronto, Ontario M21 4V6, Canada
Tel: (647)499.6636 Fax: 1888611-8836 E-mail: raza@accountantcpa.ca

www.accountantcpa.ca

______________



Registrar of Mortgage Brokers

March 9, 2016

This report is prepared solely for submission to the Registrar of Mortgage Brokers and is not to be referred to
or distributed to any person other than in accordance with the Mortgage Brokers Act.

Sved A. Raza Professional Corporation
Licensed Public Accountant

(Authorized to practice public accounhing by the hllStlbutC of
Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario)
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation
Licensed Public Accountant

March 09, 2016

To the Financial Services Commission of Ontario

I have audited Fir5t Swiss Mortgage Corp.’s compliance with the standards in the Mortgage Brokerages,

Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006 (the Act) applicable to mortgage administrators with trust funds.

These standards are contained in Ontario Regulation 189/08 (Mortgage Administrators: Standards of

Practice) and Ontario Regulation 193/08 (Reporting Requirements for Licensees). Compliance with the

standards established in the Act is the responsibility of the management of First Swiss Mortgage Corp.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this compliance based on our audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. These

standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether First Swiss

Mortgage Corp. complied with the provisions of the Act and standards referred to above. Such an audit

includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting compliance, evaluating the overall compliance

with the requirements of the Act, and where applicable, assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management.

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. was not in compliance with section 3 of Ontario Regulation 193/08

(Reporting Requirements for Licensees), the details of which are the following:

Within 90 days after the end of every fiscal year, every mortgage administrator shall given the

superintendent:

Page 1/2
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a) A copy of its audited financial statements for the year:

b) A copy of a report by the auditor about the books, records and accounts of the mortgage

administrator for the year, in a form approved by the Superintendent: and

c) A copy of a report by the auditor about the mortgage administrator’s trust account and the

assets and liabilities under administration for the year, in a form approved by the

Superintendent. Reg. 193/08, s.3 (1)

Sased on the non-compliance issue referred to in the preceding paragraph, in my opinion, for the period

ended August 31, 2015 First Swiss rvlortgage Corp. was not in compliance with the requirements and

standards under the Act with respect to mortgage administrators managing and keeping records for

trust accounts and trust funds.

Yours very truly,

Syed A. Raza Profissional Corporation CPA, CGA
Liccnsed Public Accountant

(Authorized to practice public accounting liy The institute
Of Chartered Proft, s sion Accou I wits of On I; trio)

Suite ft :;ti-:- 2 Coae.,iiiu-t--. IIi;ad,iuronto, (liiiir,i, M2J lvi,, Citiiii;’

Tel: (541)4519-6636 [ax: 1888 611-8836 [-mail: rua@)account;tntcpa.ca

www.accountantcpa.com
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation

Licensed Public Accountant

________

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of

First Swiss Mortgage Corp

I have audited accompanying financial statement of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which cbmprise the

balance sheet as at August 31, 2015 and the statements of earnings and deficit and cash flow for the

year then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accouning policies

and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statement

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and (or such internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors Responsibility

My responsibiiity is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted

my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require

that I compiy with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments; the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the approlriateness of

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manaeent as well

as evaicating the overall presentation of the financia statements.

I beiievc that the audit evidence i have obtained is sufficient arid appropriate to provide a basis for my

audit opinion.
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Licensed Public Accountant

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial pbsition of

First Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at August 31, 2015 and the results of its operations and its cash [lows for

the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterpriscs.

March 9)2016
Syed A. Rant Professional Corpofrtion

Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountant
it JUL/i ci lo HEctice fl I ‘tic iccounUng by Tie InslJLoie

(H CilLinenti i’rofrs%iciilni Accoufliants orOotni
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Balance Sheet
As at August 31, 2015

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and Bank 622
Account Receivable 10,311
Security Deposit (note 3) -

Other receivable- related company (Note 6) 92,728
Prepaid Expense and Sundry Assets 3,000

Total Assets

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

Bank Indebtedness (Note 4)

Payrofl Liabilities (Note 5)

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities

Loan Payable-Related company (Note 6)

2015 2014
$

_______

16,822
25,000

3,657

106,661 45,479

- 4

24,687 5,854

47,789 121,715

72,476 127,573

- 21,819
72,476 149,392

310,100 310,100

(275,915)

34,185 103,913)

106,661 45,479

Shareholder’s Deficiency

Capital Stock (note 7)

Deficit

Total Liabilities and Equities

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Page 3/11
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Earnings and Deficit

As at August 31, 2015

- —

Revenue
Fees & Other Income
Mortgage Interest

Expenses
General and administration

Rent
Wages and benefits
Lass on loan guarantee

The accompanying notes are an negral part of these financial statements.

2014
$

667506 778,565
1752 1,596

5

2015

$

669258 780,161

61,142 128,000

104,095 102,064
365,923 347.706

- 58,916

531,160 636,686

138,098 143,475

- 84,000

138,098 59,475

(414,013) (473,468)

(275,915) (414,013)

Earning before undernoted items

Loss on misappropriation of assets (Note 11)

Net Earnings for the year

Deficit-Beginning of the year

Deficit-End of year
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Cash Flow

As at August 31, 2015

2015

$

2014

$

Cash Provided by (used in)

Operating Activities
Net earnings of the year

Changes in working capital items

(tncrease) decrease in Account Receivable

(Increase) decrease in Other Account Receivable

(Increase) Decrease Prepaid Expense and sundry assets

Increase (Decrease) in Payroll liabilities

Increase (Decsease) in Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities

Investing activities
Security Deposit

Financing Activities

Bank indebtedness
Loan Payable

Change in cash during the year

Cash-Beghining of year

Cash-End of year

Non-Cash Transaction

Cancellation of common shares

Sales of interest in subsdiary

138098 59,475

6,511
(92728)

657
18,833

(73,926)

(2,555) 52,385

25,000 -

(4) (12,933)
(21819) (39,452)

(21,823) (52,385)

622 -

622 -
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(8116)

1,142
(1,744)

1,628
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp
Notes for Financial Statements

Augut 31, 2015

1. Nature of Operations

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the Canada
Business Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerages. Lenders and
Administrators Act, 2006 (the Act). The company is a non-bank lender providng residential real estate
finance and also administers mortgages on behalf of its investors.

2. Summary of Significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

These Financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private

enterprise (ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly

significant.

Mortgage investments

The company its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18,

investment Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of

earnings and deficit. Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s

length transaction betlen knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair

value of the mortgages approximates their carrying value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of

short-term loans (typically maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the

borroirs without penalty or yield maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages

would be made at the same or similar terms based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current

mortgage market When collection of the principal on a mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the

fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the estimated iet realizable value of the underlying security.

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not

exceeding 75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority

charge with loans to value exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with

Accounting Guideline 18. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment

represents the total amount ol management’s estimate of the shortfall of the mortgage investment

principal balances and the investments where collection of principal is no longer assured.

Where appropriate, management makes a specific provision for loans losses.

Page 6/11



First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes for Financial Statements

August 31, 2015

Revenue recognition

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis.

Mortgage administration fees for administering the mortgages on behalf of the investors ai e accounted

for on an accrual basis.

Mortgage arrangement fees are amortized over the expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is

sold, any remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the period of sale.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make

estimate and assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reportediamounts of

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from thos estimates.

Estimates are used in the accrual of interest income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued

liabilities. Significant changes in assumptions could materially change the recorded carrying alue. These

estimates are revield periodically and as adjustments become necessary they are rei resented in

earnings in the period in which they become known.

Financial Instruments

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, excel t for certain

non-arm’s length transactions.

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any

impairment, except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank

indebtedness, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded t fair value

each year-end. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are ¶ndicators of

possible impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is ndcessary, the

reversal is recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairr ent.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes for Financial Statements

August31, 2015

3. Security Deposit

2015 2014
$ $

Represent funds held in trust by lawyer 25,000

- 25,000

4. Bank indebtedness
The amount represents a bank overdraft (2014-$ 4 represents a book overdraft).

5. Government remittance

Government remittance consist of amounts such as property taxes, sales taxes and payroll withholdine

taxes required to be paid to government authorities and are recognized when the amounts ome due. In

respect of government remittances, $24,687 (2014-$S,854) is included in accounts payable nd accrued

liabilities.

6. L.oan Payable/Other Receivable

2015 2014
$ $

Payable/(Receivable) to/from a company having significant influence, non-

interest bearing with no specific terms of repayment; the holders of the (92,728)

debt have agreed in writing not to demand payment over the

next fiscal year.

Holver, receivable ($92,728) will be paid within a year time 21,819

7. Capital Stock

Authorized

Unlimited common shares

Issued

2015 2014

$

310,000 Common Shares 310,100 3lJ,lOO
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes for Financial Statements

August 31, 2015

8. Related Party transaction

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts

in these financial statements. These transactions are in the normal cMyse of operatiiins and are

measured at the exchange value, which is the amount of consideration established and agr4ed to by the

related entity.

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity:

2015 2c14

$
General and administration 61142 1281000

Rent 104,095 102064

Wages and benefits 365,923 347 706

9. Risk management

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrolrs nay be unable to honor tieir

mortgage commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse c)7ange in

economic conditions in Canada could result in declines in the value of real property secu1ng the

company’s mortgage investments. The company mitigates its risk by the following: I

• Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage’ investment

prior to funding; this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professio al

independent consultants, lawyers and appraisers, and performing credit checks n

prospective borroirs;

• Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrolrs; and

• Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures wiere

required.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2015 is the fair value of its mortgage iivestments,

which total $nil (2014-SNil).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obllgatins as they

come due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of he timing

of mortgage investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow and

requirements to ensure cash is efficiently utilized. I

Page 9/11
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes for Financial Statements

August 31, 2015

10. Contingent liabilities

In the ordinary cMyse of business, the company has entered into agreements related to len1ing

agreements with borrolrs for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrolrs fortheir

entitlement to unadvanced funds. The unadvanced funds under the existing mortgage portf4llo

amounted to $nil (2014-$nil). No provision for this obligation has been recorded In the finanhal

statements.

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage

payment in over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, t the

company’s discretion: (i) to replace the mortgage with performing one; (ii) to buy back the rTortgage ; or

(iii) default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real state

commissions related to default management and will have the right to recuperate these costs from the

excess proceeds of the property sale after the investor has received the funds old to them. at august

31, 2014, the company recorded $Nil as a provision against potential costs that may arise fr m

investors exercising this option. As at August 31, 2015, the cumulative provision carried in th books was

in the amount of $Nil

11. Loss on misappropriation of assets

During the year 2014, the Chief Financial Officer transferred $84,000 to a personal bank account without

authorization. This person is no longer with the company.

12. Income Taxes

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2015 of $176,3q0 (2014-

$314,478), which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows:

$

2031 28,994

2032 147,386

The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financia)

statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Notes for Financial Statements

August 31, 2015

13. Mortgage under administration

2015 2014

$

Prinicple due from borrolrs 9,514321 11 ,56,636

Assets held in (rust 21,998 312,985

9,536,319 11,669,621

Investor Fund 9,514,321 11,256,636

Monies in trust due to investors 21,998 312,985

9,536,319 11,569,621

14. Comparative figures

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparati e purpose

to conform with the presentation in the current year’s financial statements.
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation 
Licensed Public Accountant  

 

 

 
Independent Auditor's Report 

 
To the shareholders of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 
I have audited accompanying financial statement of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which comprise the 

balance sheet as at August 31, 2018, the statements of Income (loss) and retained earnings (deficit) 

and cash flow for the year then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 

my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 

that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments; the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

audit opinion. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation 
Licensed Public Accountant  

 

 

 
Opinion 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at August 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 

Licensed Public Accountant 
Authorised to practice public accounting by the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 

Toronto, Ontario 

April 14, 2019 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Balance Sheet 

As at 31 August, 2018 

 
 

 
 

 2018 2017 

ASSETS   

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
$ 1,629 $ 

 
2,934 

Accounts receivable - 13,158 

Loan receivable - Related party (Note - 10) 58,486 113,563 

Prepaid expenses 17,250 3,150 

Security deposit 25,000 25,000 

Employee Loan (Note - 11) 98,436 - 

Director's Advances 30,500 - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS $ 231,301 $ 157,805 
   

TOTAL ASSETS $ 231,301 $ 157,805 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

  

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 

 
122,291 

 
117,670 

Due to government agencies (Note - 03) 90,905 62,948 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 213,196 180,618 
   

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 213,196 180,618 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Capital Stock (Note - 04) 

 

310,100 

 

310,100 

Deficit (page 5) (291,995) (332,913) 
 $ 18,105 (22,813) 
   

TOTAL LIABILITY & SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY $ 231,301 $ 157,805 

 
Contingent Liabilities (Note-07) 

  

Approved on Behalf of the Board 

 

                                                      Director 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Income 

For the year ended 31 August, 2018 

 
 

 
 
 

 2018 2017 

 
INCOME 

Fees 

 
 

$ 588,191 

 
 
$ 386,940 

Other Income 137 821 

TOTAL INCOME $ 588,328 $ 387,761 

 
 

EXPENSES 
Bad Debts Expenses 

 
 

- 

 
 

21,545 

General and Administration 77,643 81,967 

Rent Expenses 27,000 27,000 

Wages and Benefits 442,767 296,366 

Total Expense $ 547,410 $ 426,878 

Net Income (loss) for the year $ 40,918 $ (39,117) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 



 

 

 

 
 

 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Retained Earning 

For the year ended 31 August, 2018 

 

 
 

 

 
 2018 2017 

 
 
Retained Earnings (Deficit), Beginning of the year 

 
 

$ (332,913) 

 
 
$ (293,796) 

Net income (Loss), for the year (Page 4) 40,918 (39,117) 

Retained earnings (Deficit), End of the year $ (291,995) $ (332,913) 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Cash Flow 

For the year ended 31 August, 2018 

 
 

 
 
 

 2018 2017 

 
Cash Provided by (used in) 

  

OPERATING ACTVITIES   

Net income (Loss) for the year $ 40,918 $ (39,117) 

CHANGINS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS 

Increase (Decrease) in Accounts receivable 

 
13,158 

 
13,541 

Increase (Decrease) in Loan receivable - Related party 55,077 (15,439) 

(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid expenses (14,100) (52) 

(Increase) Decrease in Loan and advances (98,436) - 

(Increase) Decrease in Director's advances (30,500) - 

(Increase) Decrease in Payroll liabilities 27,957 9,555 

Increase (Decrease) in Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 4,621 57,800 

 $ (1,305) $ 26,288 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Security deposits 

 
- 

 
(25,000) 

 $ - $ (25,000) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Bank indebtedness / Borrower's 

 
- 

 
- 

Loan Payable - - 

Net cash from financing activities $ - $ - 

 
Changes in cash & cash equivalents during the year 

Cash & cash equivalents beginning of year 

 
 

2,934 

 
 

1,646 

Cash & cash equivalents end of year $ 1,629 $ 2,934 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes for Financial Statements 

As of August 31, 2018 

 
 

1. Nature of operation 
 

FIRST SWISS MORTGAGE CORP (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the 

Canada Business Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerage, Lenders and 

Administrators Act, 2006 (the Act.). The company is a non-bank lender providing residential real estate 

finance and also administers mortgage on behalf of its investors. 

 

2. Summary of Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of presentation 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 

enterprises (ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly  

significant. 
 

Mortgage investments 
 

The company its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18, 

investment Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of  

earnings and deficit. Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length 

transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of 

the mortgages approximates their carrying value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term 

loans (typically maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the borrowers 

without penalty or yield maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages would be 

made at the same or similar terms based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current mortgage 

market. When collection of the principal on a mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair value of 

the mortgage is reduced to the estimated net realizable value of the underlying security. 
 

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not 

exceeding 75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority 

charge with loans to value exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with 

Accounting Guideline 18. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment 

represents the total amount of management’s estimate of the shortfall between the mortgage investment 

principal balances and the investments where collection of principal is no longer assured. 
 

Revenue recognization 
 

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

Mortgage administration fees for administering the mortgages on behalf of the investors are accounted 

for on an accrual basis. 

Mortgage arrangement fees are amortized over the expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is 

sold, any remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the period of sale. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2018 

 

 

 
Use of estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimate 

and assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used 

in the accrual of interest income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant 

changes in assumptions could materially change the recorded carrying value. These estimates are 

reviewed periodically and as adjustments become necessary they are represented in earnings in the 

period in which they become known. 
 

Financial instruments. 
 

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain 

non-arm’s length transactions. 

 
The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any 

impairment, except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank 

indebtedness, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value 

each year-end. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis. 

 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of 

possible impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the 

reversal is recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. 
 

3. Government Remittance 

 

Government remittance consist of amounts such as property taxes, sales taxes and payroll withholding 

taxes required to be paid to government authorities and are recognized when the amounts come due. In 

respect of government remittances, $90,905 (2017 - $62,948) were outstanding as at August 31, 2018 

 

4. Capital Stock 

 
Authorized 

Unlimited common shares Issued 

 

 2018  2017 

 $ 310,100  $ 310,100 

310,000 Common Shares $ 310,100  $ 310,100 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2018 

 

 

5. Related Party Transaction 
 

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts 

in these financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are 

measured at the exchange value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 

related entity. 
 

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity: 

 
 

Occupancy Cost 

 
 

6 Risk Management 
 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may be unable to honor their mortgage 

commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic 

conditions in Canada could result in declines in the value of real property securing the company’s  

mortgage investments. The company mitigates its risk by the following: 

 
• Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior 

to funding; this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent 

consultants, lawyers and appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers; 

• Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and 

• Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2018 is the fair value of its mortgage investments, 

which total $nil (2017-$13,158). 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they  

come due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of 

mortgage investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources 

and requirements to ensure cash is efficiently utilized. 

 

7. Contingent Liabilities 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending 

agreements with borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrowers for their  

entitlement to unadvanced funds. The unadvanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio 

amounted to $nil (2017-$nil). 

2018  2017 

$ 27,000  $ 27,000 

$ 27,000  $ 27,000 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2018  

 

 

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage 

payment in over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the 

company’s discretion: 

(i) to replace the mortgage with performing one; 

(ii) to buy back the mortgage ; or 
 

(iii) default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real estate 

commissions related to default management and will have the right to recapture these costs from 

the excess proceeds of the property sale after the investor has received the funds owed to them. 

The company recorded $80,800 (2017- $53,400) as a provision against potential costs that may arise 

from investors exercising this position. 
 

8. Income taxes 
 

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2018 of $190,547 (2017- 

$233,379), which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

 

Year $ 

 
2032 $ 133,548 

2036 $ 17,882 

2038 $ 39,117 
 

The income tax provisoin recorded differs from the income taxes obtained by applying the statutory 

income tax rate of 14% (2017-15.5%) to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows, 

 
  2018    2017  

Income (Loss) before income taxes $ 40,918 $ (39,117) 

Tax (recoverable) expense at the combined basic federal 

and provincial tax rate (2018- 14%, 2017-15.5%) 

 
$ 5,730 

 
$ (6,063) 

Increase (decrease) resulting from: 

Capital cost allowance in excess of amortization 

 

$ - 

 

$ - 

Non-deductible expenses $ 268 $ - 

Non-capital loss carried forward (applied) $ (5,998) $ 6,063 

Income tax expenses $ - $ - 

 
 

The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financial statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2018  

 

 

 

9. Mortgage under Adminitratration 

 
2018 2017 

Principle due from borrowers $   1,870,200  $ 2,725,777 

Assets held in trust $    13,103  $ 414,630 

 
$    1,883,303 

 
$    3,140,407 

 
Investor Fund 

 
$   1,870,200 

  
$ 2,725,777 

Monies in trust due to investors $    13,103  $ 401,472 

Payable to FSM $ -  $   13,158 

 $    1,883,303  $   3,140,407 

 
10. Loan Receivable - Related party 

   

 
2018 

 
2017 

Receivable from a company having significant influence, non 

interest bearing with no specific terms 

   

of repayment; the holder of the debt have agreed in    

writing to be paid on demand. $        58,486  $       113,563 

 
11. Employee Loan 

   

 
First Swiss Mortgage Corp has extended an employee loan in the amount of $98,436. The term of the 

loan is for 24-month period and the interest rate is 4.50% annual payable at maturity. 
 

12. Commitment 
 

As part of this office sharing agreement First Swiss Mortgage has paid the sum of $27,000 for the period 

Sep-2017 to August 2018 as cost of the office sharing to First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 
There is long term commitment with related company First Swiss Mortgage. Parties have agreed to share 

costs on a month to month basis plus applicable taxes. 

 
Year  $ 

2019  $ 27,000.00 

2020  $ 27,000.00 

2021  $ 27,000.00 

2022  $ 27,000.00 

 
13 Comparative Figures 

 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparative purpose to 

conform with the presentation in the current year’s financial statements. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation 
Licensed Public Accountant  

 

Independent Auditor's Report 

 
To the shareholders of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 
I have audited accompanying financial statement of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which comprise the balance sheet 

as at December 31, 2019, the statements of Income (loss) and retained earnings (deficit) and cash flow for the  

year then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 

 
In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at December 31, 2019 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial  

Statements” section of my report. I am independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements  

that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in Canada and I have fulfilled my other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management intends to liquate or cease operations, or has no reasonable alternative but to do so. 

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 

 

 
 

 

 
Suite # 803- 250 Consumers Road, Toronto, Ontario M2J 4V6, Canada 

Tel: (647)499-6636 Cell: (647)999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 E-mail: raza@accountantcpa.ca Website: www.accountantcpa.ca 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation 
Licensed Public Accountant  

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance  

with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they  

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the bases of these financial  

statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise  

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient  and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,  

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

* Obtain an understanding off internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the  

Entity’s internal control. 

 

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 

 

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

of, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events of conditions may cause the Entity to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and event in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 

during my audit.  
 

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation 
Licensed Public Accountant 
Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 

Toronto, Ontario 

April 07, 2021 
 

Suite # 803- 250 Consumers Road, Toronto, Ontario M2J 4V6, Canada 

Tel: (647)499-6636 Cell: (647) 999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 E-mail: raza@accountantcpa.ca Website: www.accountantcpa.ca 

mailto:raza@accountantcpa.ca
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Balance Sheet 

As at 31 August, 2019 

 
 

 
 

 $ 2019 $ 2018 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

66 

 
1,629 

Loan receivable - Related party (Note - 10)  22,682 58,486 

Prepaid expenses  3,150 17,250 

Security deposit  25,000 25,000 

Employee Loan   - 98,436 

Director's Advances  - 30,500 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  $ 50,898 $ 231,301 
    

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 50,898 $ 231,301 

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

   

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 

 
 

91,049 

 
122,291 

Due to government agencies (Note - 03)  162,176 90,905 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  $ 253,225 $ 213,196 
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  $ 253,225 $ 213,196 

 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Capital Stock (Note - 04) 

  
 

310,100 

 
 

310,100 

Deficit (page 5)  (512,427) (291,995) 
  $ (202,327) $ 18,105 
    

TOTAL LIABILITY & SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY  $ 50,898 $ 231,301 

 
Contingent Liabilities (Note-07) 

   

Approved on Behalf of the Board 
   

 

 
 
 
Director 
 
 
Director 

  

 
 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 



 

 
 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Income 

For the year ended 31 August, 2019 

 

 
 

 
 

 $ 2019 $ 2018 

 
INCOME 

  

Fees 381,559 588,191 

Other Income - 137 

TOTAL INCOME $ 381,559 $ 588,328 

 

EXPENSES 
General and Administration 

 
 

88,603 

 
 

77,643 

Rent Expenses 27,000 27,000 

Wages and Benefits 486,388 442,767 

Total Expense $ 601,991 $ 547,410 

Net Income (loss) for the year $ (220,432) $ 40,918 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Retained Earning 

For the year ended 31 August, 2019 

 

 
 

 

 

$ 2019 $ 2018 
 

. 

 
Retained Earnings (Deficit), Beginning of the year (291,995) (332,913) 

Net income (Loss), for the year (Page 4) (220,432) 40,918 

Retained earnings (Deficit), End of the year $ (512,427) $ (291,995) 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Statement of Cash Flow 

For the year ended 31 August, 2019 

 

 
 

 
 

$ 2019 $ 2018 

 
Cash Provided by (used in) 

  

OPERATING ACTVITIES   

Net income (Loss) for the year (220,432) 40,918 

CHANGINS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS 
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts receivable 

 
- 

 
13,158 

Increase (Decrease) in Loan receivable - Related party 35,804 55,077 

(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid expenses 14,100 (14,100) 

(Increase) Decrease in Loan and advances 98,436 (98,436) 

(Increase) Decrease in Director's advances 30,500 (30,500) 

(Increase) Decrease in Government Remittance 71,271 27,957 

(Increase) Decrease in Accounts payable & accrued liabilities (31,242) 4,621 

 $ (1,563) $ (1,305) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Security deposits 

 
- 

 
- 

 $ - $ - 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Bank indebtedness / Borrower's 

 
- 

 
- 

Loan Payable - - 

Net cash from financing activities $ - $ - 

 
Changes in cash & cash equivalents during the year 

Cash & cash equivalents beginning of year 

 
 

1,629 

 
 

2,934 

Cash & cash equivalents end of year $ 66 $ 1,629 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes for Financial Statements 

As of August 31, 2019 

 
 

1. Nature of operation 
 

FIRST SWISS MORTGAGE CORP (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the Canada Business  

Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerage, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006 (the 

Act.). The company is a non-bank lender providing residential real estate finance and also administers mortgage on 

behalf of its investors. 

 

2. Summary of Significant accounting policies 
 

Basis of presentation 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises 

(ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant. 

 

Mortgage investments 

 

The company its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18, investment  

Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of earnings and deficit. Fair  

value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, 

willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of the mortgages approximates their carrying value  

given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term loans (typically maturing within 24 months or less) that are 

repayable at the option of the borrowers without penalty or yield maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio 

of mortgages would be made at the same or similar terms based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current 

mortgage market. When collection of the principal on a mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair  value of the 

mortgage is reduced to the estimated net realizable value of the underlying security. 

 

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not exceeding 

75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority charge with loans to value 

exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18. Fair value is based on 

discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment represents the total amount of management’s estimate of the shortfall 

between the mortgage investment principal balances and the investments where collection of principal is no longer 

assured. 
 

Revenue recognization 
 

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

Mortgage administration fees for administering the mortgages on behalf of the investors are accounted for on an 

accrual basis. 

Mortgage arrangement fees are amortized over the expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is sold, any 

remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the period of sale. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2019 

 

 
Use of estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimate and 

assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in the accrual of interest income and 

completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant changes in assumptions could materially  change 

the recorded carrying value. These estimates are reviewed periodically and as adjustments become necessary they are 

represented in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

 

Financial instruments. 

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-arm’s 

length transactions. 
 

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any impairment, except for 

cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank indebtedness, and accounts payable and  

accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value each year-end. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line 

basis. 

 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of possible impairment. 

When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the reversal is recognized in net earnings 

up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. 
 

3. Government Remittance 
 

Government remittance consist of amounts such as property taxes, sales taxes and payroll withholding taxes required 

to be paid to government authorities and are recognized when the amounts come due. In respect of government  

remittances, $162,175 (2018 - $90,905) were outstanding as at August 31, 2019 

 
4. Capital Stock 

 
Authorized 

Unlimited common shares Issued 

 2019 2018 

 
$ 310,100 $ 310,100 

310,000 Common Shares $ 310,100 $ 310,100 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2019 

 
5. Related Party Transaction 

 

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts in these 

financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 

value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related entity. 

 
The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity: 

 
 

 
Occupancy Cost 

 
 
 

6 Risk Management 
 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may be unable to honor their mortgage commitments 

because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic conditions in Canada could result in 

declines in the value of real property securing the company’s mortgage investments. The company mitigates its risk by 

the following: 

 
• Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior to funding;  

this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent  consultants, lawyers and 

appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers; 

• Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and 

• Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2019 is the fair value of its mortgage investments. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they come due. This 

risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of mortgage investment funding 

and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and requirements to ensure cash is 

efficiently utilized. 

 

7. Contingent Liabilities 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending agreements with 

borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrowers for their entitlement to unadvanced funds. 

The unadvanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio. 

 2019 2018 

  
$ 27,000 

 

$ 27,000 

 $ 27,000 $ 27,000 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2019  

 

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage payment in 

over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the company’s discretion: 
 

(i) to replace the mortgage with performing one; 

(ii) to buy back the mortgage ; or 

(iii) default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real estate commissions  

related to default management and will have the right to recapture these costs from the excess proceeds of the 

property sale after the investor has received the funds owed to them. 

The company recorded $53,600 (2018- $80,800) as a provision against potential costs that may arise from investors 

exercising this position. 
 

8. Income taxes 
 

The income tax provision recorded differs from the income tax obtained by applying the Statutory income tax rate of 

(2018 - 14%), to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows: 

 

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2019 of $415,824 (2018-$190,547), which 

are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

 

 Year $ 

 
2030 $ 225,277 

2032 $ 133,548 

2036 $ 17,882 

2038 $ 39,117 

 
The income tax provisoin recorded differs from the income taxes obtained by applying the statutory income tax rate of 

(2018 - 14%) to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows: 

 
 2019  2018 

Income (Loss) before income taxes $ 220,432  $ 40,918 

(Loss) income tax (recoverable) expense at the combined basic 
   

federal and provincial tax rate (2018-14%)  $         (30,860)  $            5,730 

Increase (decrease) resulting from: 
   

Capital cost allowance in excess of amortization               xx                    xx 

Non-deductible expenses               xx  $     268 

Non-capital loss carried forward (applied) $ (30,860)  $ (5,998) 

Income tax expenses $ -  $ - 

 
The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financial statements. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

As of August 31, 2019 

 
9. Mortgage under Administration 

 
 2019 2018 

Principle due from borrowers $  4,016,829 $ 1,870,200 

Assets held in trust $            931 $ 13,103 

 
$  4,017,760 $1,883,303 

 
Investor Fund 

 
$  4,016,829 

 
$ 1,870,200 

Monies in trust due to investors $            931 $ 13,103 

 $  4,017,760 $1,883,303 

 
10. Loan Receivable - Related party 

  

 
2019 2018 

Receivable from a company having significant influence,  
non-interest bearing with no specific terms 

  

of repayment; the holder of the debt have agreed in   

writing to be paid on demand. $ 22,682 $ 58,486 

 
11. Employee Loan 

  

 
First Swiss Mortgage Corp has extended an employee loan in the amount of $98,436. The term of the loan is for 24- 

month period and the interest rate is 4.50% annual payable at maturity. 
 

12. Commitment 
 

As part of this office sharing agreement First Swiss Mortgage has paid the sum of $27,000 for the period Sep-2018 to 

August 2019 as cost of the office sharing to First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 
There is long term commitment with related company First Swiss Mortgage. Parties have agreed to share costs on a 

month to month basis plus applicable taxes. 

 
Year $ 

2020 $ 27,000 

2021 $ 27,000 

2022 $ 27,000 

 
13 Comparative Figures 

 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparative purpose to conform with 

the presentation in the current year’s financial statements. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

To the Shareholders of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 

I have audited accompanying financial statements of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at 

August 31, 2020, the statements of loss and deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, and the related notes, which 

comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First 

Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at August 31, 2020 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  My responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section 

of my report.  I am independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements in Canada and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management intends to liquate or cease operations, or has no reasonable alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.  Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the bases of these financial statements.  As part of an audit in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit.  I also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Entity’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion.  My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of my auditor’s report.  However, future events of conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and event in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the  

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 

        

  

 

 

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA, 

 Licensed Public Accountant 

Markham, Ontario     Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

February14, 2022      Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 
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Tel: (647)499-6636 Cell: (647) 999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 E-mail:  raza@accountantcpa.ca  Web: www.accountantcpa.ca 

           

 

mailto:raza@accountantcpa.ca
http://www.accountantcpa.ca/


Page 3 of 12

First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Balance Sheet

As of August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Bank 3,354                  66                       

Prepaid expenses 3,510                  3,150                  

Due from Related Party (Note - 5) 57,199                22,682                

Security deposit 25,000                25,000                

Other Receivable - Government Assistance (Note - 4) 18,739                -                     

Total Current Assets $ 107,802              $ 50,898                

Total Assets $ 107,802              $ 50,898                

Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 59,932                91,049                

Government Remittances (Note - 7) 294,557              162,176              

Total Current Liabilities $ 354,489              $ 253,225              

Non Current Liabilities

Government Assistance Loan (Note - 11) 30,000                -                     

Total Non Current Liabilities $ 30,000                $ -                     

Shareholder's Equity

Share Capital  (Note - 3) 310,100              310,100              

Deficit (Page - 5) (586,787)            (512,427)            

Total Shareholder's Equity $ (276,687)            $ (202,327)            

Total Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity $ 107,802              $ 50,898                

Related Party Transaction (Note - 13)

Contingent Liabilities (Note - 9) 

Commitments (Note - 14)

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Director

Director

Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 12 are integral part of these statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Loss

As of August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Fees 282,773              381,559              

Total Fees $ 282,773              $ 381,559              

Expenses

General and Administration Expenses 80,839                88,603                

Rent Expenses 27,000                27,000                

Wages and Benefits 259,294              486,388              

Total Expenses $ 367,133              $ 601,991              

Income before Income Tax (84,360)               (220,432)             

Government Assistance (Note - 11) 10,000                -                      

Net Loss $ (74,360)               $ (220,432)             

Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 12 are integral part of these statements.



Page 5 of 12

First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Deficit

As of August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Deficit, beginning of the year (512,427)$           (291,995)$           

Net Loss during the year (Page 4) (74,360)$             (220,432)$           

Deficit, end of the year (586,787)$           (512,427)$           

Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7  to 12 are integral part of these statements..
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Cash Flow

As of August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities:

Net Loss for the period (74,360)$            (220,432)$          

Items Not Requiring An Outlay Of Funds

Depreciation -$                   -$                   

Gain on sale of assets -$                   -$                   

Government Assistance -Debt Forgiveness (10,000)$            -$                   

(84,360)$            (220,432)$          

Net Changes In Non-Cash Working Capital

(Decrease) Increase Prepaid Expenses (360)$                 14,100$              

Decrease (Increase) Loan and Advances -$                   98,436$              

Decrease (Increase) Director Advances -$                   30,500$              

(Decrease) Increase Other Receivable - Government Assistance (18,739)$            -$                   

(Increase) Decrease Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities (31,117)$            (31,242)$            

Increase (Decrease) in Government Remittances 132,381$            71,271$              

(2,195)$              (37,367)$            

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities:

Dispostion (Acquisition) of Property, plant and equipment -$                   -$                   

(Decrease) Increase Due from Related Party (34,517)$            35,804$              

(34,517)$            35,804$              

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities:

Increase (Decrease) in loan Payable-Shareholder -$                   -$                   

Increase(Decrease) in Government Assistance Loan 40,000$              -$                   

40,000$              -$                   

Increase (Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents 3,288$                (1,563)$              

Cash & Cash Equivalents, Beginning Of The Year 66$                     1,629$                

Cash & Cash Equivalents, End Of The Year 3,354$                66$                     

Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 12 are integral part of these statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

  
1. Nature of Operations 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the Canada Business 

Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerage, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006 

(the Act.). The company is a non-bank lender providing residential real estate finance and also administers mortgage 

on behalf of its investors. 

 

2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a. Basic of Presentation 

 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises 

(ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant. 

 

b. Mortgage Investment 

The company its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18, investment 

Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of earnings and deficit. 

Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length transaction between 

knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of the mortgages 

approximates their carrying value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term loans (typically 

maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the borrowers without penalty or yield 

maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages would be made at the same or similar terms 

based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current mortgage market. When collection of the principal on a 

mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the estimated net realizable 

value of the underlying security. 

 

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not 

exceeding 75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority charge 

with loans to value exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 

18. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment represents the total amount of 

management’s estimate of the shortfall between the mortgage investment principal balances and the investments 

where collection of principal is no longer assured. 

 

c. Revenue Recognition 

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

The Company‘s revenue is generated from arrangement and administration fees. Revenue is recognized when 

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been rendered, the rate of services to the client is fixed 

or is determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Based on these criteria, the 

Company’s revenue is generally recognized as follows: 

i) Arrangement fees are recognized when fund are disbursed to the borrowers and are amortized over the 

expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is sold, any remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the 

period of sale. 

ii) Administration fees are recognized when the services are performed.   

 

d. Income Taxes  

The Company uses the taxes payable method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the Company 

reports as an expense (income) of the period only the cost (benefit) of current income taxes payable determined 

in accordance with the rules established by tax authorities. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

e. Use of estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimate and 

assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in the accrual of interest 

income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant changes in assumptions could 

materially change the recorded carrying value. These estimates are reviewed periodically and as adjustments 

become necessary they are represented in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

f. Financial Instrument 

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-

arm’s length transactions. 

. 

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any impairment, 

except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank indebtedness, and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value each year-end. Amortization is recorded 

on a straight-line basis. 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of possible 

impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the reversal is 

recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. 

 

g. Financial Instrument 

Related party transactions occurred during the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange 

amount, which is the amount of consideration agreed by the related parties. 

 

3. Share Capital 

Authorized 

Unlimited common shares - Class A 

 

  

2020 

  

2019 

 
       310,100 Common Shares   $ 310,100 

 

$ 310,100 

        

 

$ 310,100  $ 310,100 

  

4. Other Receivable – Government Assistance  

Receivable from Canada Emergency Business Account against government assistance, which is receivable on 

subsequent months after closing of year as on August 31, 2020 

Government Assistance detail is as under: 

 

  

2020 

  

2019 

 
       Other Receivable –  $ 18,739 

 

$ - 

 Government Assistance       

 

$ 18,739  $ - 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

5. Due from Related Party 

Amounts due from related party 6807771 Canada Inc. having significant influence, non-interest bearing with no 

specific terms of repayment; the holder of the debt have agreed in writing to be paid on demand. Since 6807771 

Canada Inc. also on rental property therefore there is no doubt that would not be collectable.  

 

  

2020 

  

2019 

 
       Due from Related Party $ 57,630 

 

$ 22,682 

        

 

$ 57,630  $ 22,682 

  

6. Account Payable & Accrued Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following: 

 

 

7. Government Remittance 

Government remittance consists of amounts such as payroll liabilities required to be paid to government authorities 

and are recognized when the amounts come due. In respect of government remittances, were outstanding as at August 

31, 2020 

 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Payroll Liabilities $ 294,557   $ 162,176  

        

 

$ 294,557   $ 162,176 

 

    

 

   
8. Risk Management 

i) Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may be unable to honor their mortgage 

commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic conditions in 

Canada could result in declines in the value of real property securing the company’s mortgage investments. The 

company mitigates its risk by the following: 

 Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior to funding; 

this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent consultants, lawyers and 

appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers; 

 

 

 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Accounts Payable $ 2,424 

 

 $ 5,989 

 Accrued Liabilities $ 57,508    85,060  

        

 

$ 59,932   $ 91,049 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

 Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and 

 Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2020 is the fair value of its mortgage investments. 

 

ii) Regulatory Risk 

Regulatory risk is that the company must carry on its lending and syndication activities under the auspices of a 

regulatory body. The Company manages this risk by strictly adhering to the requirement of the Mortgage 

Brokerage, Lenders and Administration Act, 2006 and Regulations. 

 
iii) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they come 

due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of mortgage 

investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and requirements to 

ensure cash is efficiently utilized. 

 

9. Contingent Liabilities  

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending agreements with 

borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrowers for their entitlement to un-advanced 

funds. The un-advanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio 

 

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage payment in 

over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the company’s discretion: 

 

i. to replace the mortgage with performing one; 

ii. to buy back the mortgage ; or 

iii. Default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real 

estate commissions related to default management and will have the right to recapture 

these costs from the excess proceeds of the property sale after the investor has received the 

funds owed to them. 

The company recorded as a provision against potential costs that may arise from investors exercising this 

position. 

 

 

 

10. Income Taxes 

The income tax provision recorded differs from the income tax obtained by applying the statutory income tax rate of 

(2019-12.50%) to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows: 

 

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2020 of $394,623 (2019-$415,824) 

which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 
 

 

 

 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Contingent Liabilities  $ 30,690 

 

 $ 53,600 

         

 

$ 30,690   $ 53,600 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

 

The reconciliation of income taxes is as follows: 

 

The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financial statements. 

11. Government Assistance Loan 

The Company have been provided Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) loan amounting to total of 

$40,000 which is interest-free loan until December 31, 2023. It is to help eligible businesses to pay for operating 

expenses, payroll and other no deferrable expenses which are critical to sustain business continuity due to special 

circumstances of COVID-19. 

 

Repaying the balance of the loan on or before December 31, 2023 will result in loan forgiveness of 25 percent (Up to 

$10,000). Commencing on January 1, 2024, interest accrues on the balance of the term loan at the rate of 5% per 

annum, payable monthly on the last day of each month. 

 

Since there is reasonable assurance that the company will repay $30,000 by December 31, 2023, $10,000 forgivable 

amount is recorded as government assistance in the year ended August 31, 2020 and $10,000 forgivable amount is 

recorded as government assistance year ended. 

 

The company has also received $111,674 against wage subsidy from government for the fiscal year ended Aug 31, 

2020 

12. Fees 

Fees consist of the following: 

 

  

Year 

  

Amount 

  

2040 

 

$ 74,360 

  2030  $ 220,432 

  2032  $ 42,832 

  

2036 

 

$ 17,882 

  

     2038  

 

$      39,117  

  

2020 

  

2019 

 

Income (Loss) before income taxes 

 

$  (74,360)  

 

$ (220,432) 

      

Statutory Rates 

 

12.20% 

  

12.50% 

 

(Loss) income tax (recoverable) expense at the combined basic federal 

and provincial tax rate (2019-12.50%) $  (9,072)   $ (27,554) 

      

Non-deductible expenses      

Non-capital loss carried forward (applied)  9,072   27,554 

Income Tax Expense  -   - 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Self-Insurance Default Fee $ 169,418 

 

 $ 263,191 

 Administration Fee $ 35,910    28,200  

Loan Servicing Fee  77,445    90,168  

 

$ 282,773   $ 381,559 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2020 

13. Related Party Transactions 

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts in these 

financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 

value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related entity. 

 

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity: 

 

 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Occupancy Cost $ 27,000   $  27,000  

        

 

$ 27,000   $ 27,000 

  

14. Commitment 

As part of this office sharing agreement 6807771 Canada Corp. has paid the sum of $27,000 for the period Sep-2019 

to August 2020 as cost of the office sharing to First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 

There is long term commitment with related company First Swiss Mortgage. Parties have agreed to share costs on a 

month to month basis plus applicable taxes. 

 

15. Mortgage and Administration 

 

  

2020 

 

 

 

2019 

 

    

 

   Principle due from borrowers   $ 2,266,043   $ 4,016,829  

Assets held in administrative trust bank account $ 57,699   $ 931  

Assets held in brokerage trust bank account $ 36,340   $ -  

        

 

$ 2,360,082   $ 4,017,760 

 

    

 

    
Investor Fund $ 2,266,043   $  4,016,829  

Monies in trust due to investors $ 94,039   $  931  

        

 

$ 2,360,082   $ 4,017,760 

  

 

   

 

   16. Comparative Figures 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparative purpose to conform to 

the presentation in the current year’s financial statements. 

      



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

Financial Statements 

August 31, 2021 



 

 

 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
August 31, 2021 

Index to Financial Statements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page  

Independent Auditor’s Report 1-2 

Financial Statements 

Balance Sheet 3 

Statement of Loss 4 

Statement of Deficit 5 

Statement of Cash Flows 6 

Notes to Financial Statements 7-13



 
 

Page 1 of 13 

 
          

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

To the Shareholders of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 

I have audited accompanying financial statements of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at 

August 31, 2021, the statements of loss and deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, and the related notes, which 

comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First 

Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at August 31, 2021 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  My responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section 

of my report.  I am independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management intends to liquate or cease operations, or has no reasonable alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.  Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the bases of these financial statements.  As part of an audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Entity’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

of, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion.  My conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.  However, future events of conditions may cause the Entity to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and event in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during 

my audit. 

        

  

 

 

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA, 

 Licensed Public Accountant 

Markham, Ontario     Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

June 9, 2022      Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 

 

 
 

 

810-3601 Highway 7 East, Markham, Ontario L3R 0M3 

Tel: (647)499-6636 Cell: (647) 999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 E-mail: raza@accountantcpa.ca Web: www.accountantcpa.ca 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Balance Sheet

As of August 31, 2021

2021 2020

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Bank 1,693                  3,354                  

Prepaid expenses 4,117                  3,510                  

Due from Related Party (Note 5) 91,642                57,199                

Security deposit 25,000                25,000                

Other Receivables  (Note  4) 10,958                18,739                

Total Current Assets $ 133,410              $ 107,802              

Total Assets $ 133,410              $ 107,802              

Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities (Note 6) 44,305                59,932                

Government Remittance (Note  7) 375,026              294,557              

Total Current Liabilities $ 419,331              $ 354,489              

Non Current Liabilities

Government Assistance Loan (Note 11) 30,000                30,000                

Total Non Current Liabilities $ 30,000                $ 30,000                

Shareholder's Equity

Share Capital  (Note  3) 310,100              310,100              

Deficit (Page  5) (626,021)            (586,787)            

Total Shareholder's Equity $ (315,921)            $ (276,687)            

Total Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity $ 133,410              $ 107,802              

Related Party Transaction (Note 13)

Contingent Liabilities (Note 9) 

Commitments (Note 14)

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Director

Auditor’s Report on pages 1 and 2 and Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 13 are integral part of these statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Loss

As of August 31, 2021

2021 2020

Fees (Note 12) 146,120             282,773             

Total Fees $ 146,120             $ 282,773             

Expenses

General and Administration Expenses 44,659               80,839               

Rent Expenses 27,000               27,000               

Wages and Benefits 142,443             259,294             

Total Expenses $ 214,102             $ 367,133             

Income before Income Tax (67,982)              (84,360)              

Government Assistance (Note 11) 28,748               10,000               

Net Loss $ (39,234)              $ (74,360)              

Auditor’s Report on pages 1 and 2 and Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 13 are integral part of these statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Deficit

As of August 31, 2021

2021 2020

Deficit, beginning of the year (586,787)$       (512,427)$       

Net Loss during the year (Page 4) (39,234)$         (74,360)$         

Deficit, end of the year (626,021)$       (586,787)$       

Auditor’s Report on pages 1 and 2 and Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 13 are integral part of these 

statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Cash Flow

As of August 31, 2021

2021 2020

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities:

Net Loss for the period (39,234)$             (74,360)$             

Items Not Requiring An Outlay Of Funds

Government Assistance -Debt Forgiveness -$                    (10,000)$             

(39,234)$             (84,360)$             

Net Changes In Non-Cash Working Capital

(Decrease) Increase Prepaid Expenses (607)$                  (360)$                  

(Decrease) Increase Other Receivable - Government Assistance -$                    (18,739)$             

(Increase) Decrease Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities (15,627)$             (31,117)$             

Increase (Decrease) in Government Remittances 80,469$              132,381$            

25,001$              (2,195)$               

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities:

(Decrease) Increase Due from Related Party (34,443)$             (34,517)$             

(34,443)$             (34,517)$             

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities:

Increase (Decrease) in loan Payable-Shareholder 7,781$                -$                    

Increase(Decrease) in Government Assistance Loan -$                    40,000$              

7,781$                40,000$              

Increase (Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents (1,661)$               3,288$                

Cash & Cash Equivalents, Beginning Of The Year 3,354$                66$                     

Cash & Cash Equivalents, End Of The Year 1,693$                3,354$                

Cash And Cash Equivalents Are Represented By:

Cash and Bank 1,693$                3,354$                

1,693$                3,354$                

Auditor’s Report on pages 1 and 2 and Notes to Financial Statements on pages 7 to 13 are integral part of these statements.
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

 
1. Nature of Operations 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the Canada Business 

Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerage, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006 

(the Act.). The company is a non-bank lender providing residential real estate finance and also administers 

mortgage on behalf of its investors. 

 

2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a. Basic of Presentation 

 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 

enterprises (ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly 

significant. 

 

b. Mortgage Investment 

The company its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18, investment 

Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of earnings and deficit. 

Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length transaction between 

knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of the mortgages 

approximates their carrying value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term loans (typically 

maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the borrowers without penalty or yield 

maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages would be made at the same or similar terms 

based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current mortgage market. When collection of the principal on a 

mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the estimated net 

realizable value of the underlying security. 

 

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not 

exceeding 75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority charge 

with loans to value exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 

18. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment represents the total amount of 

management’s estimate of the shortfall between the mortgage investment principal balances and the investments 

where collection of principal is no longer assured. 

 

c. Revenue Recognition 

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

The Company’s revenue is generated from arrangement and administration fees. Revenue is recognized when 

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been rendered, the rate of services to the client is fixed 

or is determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Based on these criteria, the 

Company’s revenue is generally recognized as follows: 

i) Arrangement fees are recognized when fund are disbursed to the borrowers and are amortized over the 

expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is sold, any remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the 

period of sale. 

ii) Administration fees are recognized when the services are performed.   
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

d. Income Taxes  

The Company uses the taxes payable method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the Company 

reports as an expense (income) of the period only the cost (benefit) of current income taxes payable determined 

in accordance with the rules established by tax authorities. 

 
e. Use of estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimate and 

assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in the accrual of interest 

income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant changes in assumptions could 

materially change the recorded carrying value. These estimates are reviewed periodically and as adjustments 

become necessary they are represented in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic, which caused a 

major health crisis worldwide that affects the global economy and financial markets. Federal, provincial and 

municipal governments introduced numerous measures to protect the public. At this time, it is unknown the 

extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will depend on future 

developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. Given the outcome and 

time-frame to a recovery from the current pandemic is highly unpredictable, it is not practicable to estimate and 

disclose its financial effect on future operations at this time. 

f. Financial Instrument 

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-

arm’s length transactions. 

. 

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any impairment, 

except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank indebtedness, and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value each year-end. Amortization is recorded 

on a straight-line basis. 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of possible 

impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the reversal is 

recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. 

 

g. Financial Instrument 

Related party transactions occurred during the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange 

amount, which is the amount of consideration agreed by the related parties. 

 

h. Government Assistance 

Government assistance toward current expenses, including salaries, is recognized as other income at the time the 

corresponding expenses are incurred, provided there is reasonable assurance that the company has complied and 

will continue to comply with all the conditions of the government assistance. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

3. Share Capital 

Authorized 

Unlimited common shares - Class A 

 

 

 

 

2021 

  

2020 

  
      310,100 Common Shares     $ 310,100 

 

$ 310,100 

        

 

$ 310,100  $ 310,100 

  

4. Other Receivables 

 

 

  

2021 

  

2020 

 
       Canada Emergency Wage 

Subsidy (CEWS) Receivable             $ 10,958 

 

$ 18,739 

        

 

          $ 10,958  $ 18,739 

  

 

During the year ended August 31, 2020, the Government of Canada announced the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy 

(“CEWS”) for Canadian employers whose businesses were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The CEWS provides a 

subsidy towards eligible employees' remuneration, subject to certain criteria. Accordingly, the Company applied for the 

CEWS to the extent it met the requirements to receive the subsidy and $152,201 in 2021 which includes receivable of 

$10,958 (2020- $102,783 which includes receivable of $18,739) was recognized in the statement of loss as a government 

assistance. 

 

 

5. Due from Related Party 

Amounts due from related party 6807771 Canada Inc. having significant influence, non-interest bearing with no 

specific terms of repayment; the holder of the debt have agreed in writing to be paid on demand.  

 

 

  

2021 

  

2020 

 
       Due from 6807771 Canada 

Inc. $ 91,642 

 

$ 57,199 

        

 

$ 91,642  $ 57,199 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

6. Account Payable & Accrued Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following: 

 

 

 

7. Government Remittance 

Government remittance consists of amounts such as payroll liabilities required to be paid to government authorities 

and are recognized when the amounts come due. In respect of government remittances, were outstanding as at 

August 31, 2021 

 

 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Payroll tax payable $ 375,026   $ 294,557  

        

 

$ 375,026   $ 294,557 

 

    

 

   
8. Risk Management 

i) Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may be unable to honor their mortgage 

commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic conditions in 

Canada could result in declines in the value of real property securing the company’s mortgage investments. The 

company mitigates its risk by the following: 

 

 Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior to 

funding; this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent consultants, 

lawyers and appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers; 

 Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and 

 Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2021 is the fair value of its mortgage investments. 

 

ii) Regulatory Risk 

Regulatory risk is that the company must carry on its lending and syndication activities under the auspices of a 

regulatory body. The Company manages this risk by strictly adhering to the requirement of the Mortgage 

Brokerage, Lenders and Administration Act, 2006 and Regulations. 

 

 

 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Accounts Payable $ 2,983 

 

 $ 2,424 

 Accrued Liabilities $ 41,322    57,508  

        

 

$ 44,305   $ 59,932 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

iii) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they come 

due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of mortgage 

investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and requirements to 

ensure cash is efficiently utilized. 

 

9. Contingent Liabilities  

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending agreements with 

borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrowers for their entitlement to un-advanced 

funds. The un-advanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio 

 

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage payment in 

over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the company’s discretion: 

 

i. to replace the mortgage with performing one; 

ii. to buy back the mortgage ; or 

iii. Default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real 

estate commissions related to default management and will have the right to recapture 

these costs from the excess proceeds of the property sale after the investor has received 

the funds owed to them. 

The company recorded as a provision against potential costs that may arise from investors exercising this 

position. 

 

 

10.  Income Taxes 

The income tax provision recorded differs from the income tax obtained by applying the statutory income tax rate of 

(2020-12.20%) to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows: 

 

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2021 of $524,573 (2020-$485,339) 

which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Contingent Liabilities  $ 15,840 

 

 $ 30,690 

         

 

$ 15,840   $ 30,690 

 

 

 

     

  

Year 

  

Amount 

  2026  $ 39,234 

  

2028 

 

$ 74,360 

  2030  $ 220,432 

  2032  $ 39,117 

  

2036 

 

$ 17,882 

  

     2038  

 

$      133,548  
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 

 
The reconciliation of income taxes is as follows: 

 

 

The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financial statements. 

11. Government Assistance Loan 

 

a. The Company have been provided Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) loan amounting to total of 

$40,000 which is interest-free loan until December 31, 2023. It is to help eligible businesses to pay for operating 

expenses, payroll and other no deferrable expenses which are critical to sustain business continuity due to special 

circumstances of COVID-19. 

 

Repaying the balance of the loan on or before December 31, 2023 will result in loan forgiveness of 25 percent 

(Up to $10,000). Commencing on January 1, 2024, interest accrues on the balance of the term loan at the rate of 

5% per annum, payable monthly on the last day of each month. 

 

Since there is reasonable assurance that the company will repay $30,000 by December 31, 2023, $10,000 

forgivable amount is recorded as government assistance in the year ended August 31, 2020. 

 

b.  The company has also received Ontario Small Business Support Grant amounting to $28,748 against COVID-19 

from government for the year ended Aug 31, 2021. 

 

12. Fees 

Fees consist of the following: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2021 

  

2020 

 

Income (Loss) before income taxes 

 

$  (39,234)  

 

$  (74,360)  

      Statutory Rates 

 

12.20% 

  

12.20% 

 

(Loss) income tax (recoverable) expense at the combined basic federal 

and provincial tax rate (2020-12.20%) $  (4,787)  

 

$  (9,072)  

      

Non-deductible expenses  -   - 

Non-capital loss carried forward (applied)  4,787   9,072 

Income Tax Expense  -   - 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Self-Insurance Default Fee $ 78,406 

 

 $ 169,418 

 Administration Fee $ 20,000    35,910  

Loan Servicing Fee  47,714    77,445  

 

$ 146,120   $ 282,773 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2021 
 

13. Related Party Transactions 

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts in these 

financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 

value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related entity 6807771 Canada Corp. 

 

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity: 

 

 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Occupancy Cost $ 27,000   $  27,000  

        

 

$ 27,000   $ 27,000 

  

14. Commitment 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. has paid the sum of $27,000 for the period Sep-2020 to August-2021 as the part of this 

sharing agreement to 6807771 Canada Corp. 

 

There is no long term commitment with related company. Parties have agreed to share costs on a month to month 

basis plus applicable taxes. 

 

15. Mortgage and Administration 

 

  

2021 

 

 

 

2020 

 

    

 

   Principle due from borrowers   $ 2,035,926   $ 2,266,043  

Assets held in administrative trust bank account $ 19,449   $ 57,699  

Assets held in brokerage trust bank account $ 1,646   $ 36,340  

        

 

$ 2,057,021   $ 2,360,082 

 

    

 

    
Investor Fund $ 2,035,926   $ 2,266,043  

Monies in trust due to investors $ 21,095   $ 94,039  

        

 

$ 2,057,021   $ 2,360,082 

  

 

   

 

   16. Comparative Figures 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparative purpose to conform to 

the presentation in the current year’s financial statements. 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 

To the Shareholders of 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 

 

I have audited accompanying financial statements of First Swiss Mortgage Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at 

August 31, 2022, the statements of loss and deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, and the related notes, which 

comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First 

Swiss Mortgage Corp., as at August 31, 2022 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  My responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section 

of my report.  I am independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements in Canada and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management intends to liquate or cease operations, or has no reasonable alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

810-3601 Highway 7 East, Markham, Ontario L3R 0M3 

Tel: (647)499-6636 Cell: (647) 999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 E-mail:raza@accountantcpa.ca Web: www.accountantcpa.ca 
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Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.  Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the bases of these financial statements.  As part of an audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Entity’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion.  My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of my auditor’s report.  However, future events of conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and event in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my 

audit. 

        

  

 

 

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA, 

 Licensed Public Accountant 

Markham, Ontario     Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

December 05, 2022     Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Balance Sheet

As of August 31, 2022

2022 2021

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Bank 955                    1,693                 

Prepaid expenses 6,076                 4,117                 

Due from Related Party (Note 5) 28,664               91,642               

Temporary Investment (Note 6) 25,000               25,000               

Other Receivables  (Note 4) -                    10,958               

Total Current Assets $ 60,695               $ 133,410             

Total Assets $ 60,695               $ 133,410             

Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities (Note 8) 44,749               44,305               

Government Remittance (Note 9) 249,827             375,026             

Total Current Liabilities $ 294,576             $ 419,331             

Non Current Liabilities

Government Assistance Loan (Note 13) 30,000               30,000               

Shareholder's Loan (Note 7) 182,000             -                    

Total Non Current Liabilities $ 212,000             $ 30,000               

Shareholder's Equity

Share Capital  (Note 3) 310,100             310,100             

Deficit (Page 3) (755,981)           (626,021)           

Total Shareholder's Equity $ (445,881)           $ (315,921)           

Total Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity $ 60,695               $ 133,410             

Related Party Transaction (Note 15)

Contingent Liabilities (Note 11) 

Commitment (Note 17)

Going Concern (Note 18)

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Director
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement of Loss

As of August 31, 2022

2022 2021

Fees (Note 13) 147,793             146,120             

Total Fees $ 147,793             $ 146,120             

Expenses

General and Administration Expenses 56,268               44,659               

Rent Expenses 27,000               27,000               

Wages and Benefits 194,485             142,443             

Total Expenses $ 277,753             $ 214,102             

Income before Income Tax (129,960)           (67,982)             

Government Assistance Loan (Note 14) -                    28,748               

Net Loss $ (129,960)           $ (39,234)             
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Deficit

As of August 31, 2022

2022 2021

Deficit, beginning of the year (626,021)$       (586,787)$       

Net Loss during the year (Page 4) (129,960)$       (39,234)$         

Deficit, end of the year (755,981)$       (626,021)$       
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp.
Statement Of Cash Flow

As of August 31, 2022

2022 2021

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities:

Net Loss for the period (129,960)$          (39,234)$            

(129,960)$          (39,234)$            

Net Changes In Non-Cash Working Capital:

(Decrease) Increase Prepaid Expenses (1,959)$              (607)$                 

(Decrease) Increase Other Receivable - Government Assistance 10,958$              -$                   

(Increase) Decrease Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 444$                   (15,627)$            

Increase (Decrease) in Government Remittances (125,199)$          80,469$              

(245,716)$          25,001$              

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities:

(Decrease) Increase Due from Related Party 62,978$              (34,443)$            

62,978$              (34,443)$            

Cash Flow Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities:

Increase (Decrease) in loan Payable-Shareholder 182,000$            7,781$                

182,000$            7,781$                

Increase (Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents: (738)$                 (1,661)$              

Cash & Cash Equivalents, Beginning Of The Year 1,693$                3,354$                

Cash & Cash Equivalents, End Of The Year 955$                   1,693$                

Cash And Cash Equivalents Are Represented By:

Cash and Bank 955$                   1,693$                

955$                   1,693$                
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

 
1. Nature of Operations 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (the company) was incorporated on September 16, 2004 under the Canada Business 

Corporation Act. The company is registered under the Mortgage Brokerage, Lenders and Administrators Act, 2006 

(the Act.). The company is a non-bank lender providing residential real estate finance and also administers mortgage 

on behalf of its investors. 

 

2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a. Basic of Presentation 

 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises 

(ASPE) and applied consistently. Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant. 

 

b. Mortgage Investment 

The company records its investment in mortgage at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 18, 

investment Companies, with any changes in the fair value of a mortgage recorded in the statement of earnings 

and deficit. Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed on in an arm’s length transaction 

between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of the mortgages 

approximates their carrying value given the mortgage loan portfolio consists of short-term loans (typically 

maturing within 24 months or less) that are repayable at the option of the borrowers without penalty or yield 

maintenance, and any renewal of the existing portfolio of mortgages would be made at the same or similar terms 

based on the fund manager’s assessment of the current mortgage market. When collection of the principal on a 

mortgage is no longer reasonably assured, the fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the estimated net 

realizable value of the underlying security. 

 

Conventional first mortgage are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loans to value not 

exceeding 75%. Conventional non-first mortgages are loans secured by either a second or third priority charge 

with loans to value exceeding 75%. Mortgages are stated at fair value in accordance with Accounting Guideline 

18. Fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value adjustment represents the total amount of 

management’s estimate of the shortfall between the mortgage investment principal balances and the investments 

where collection of principal is no longer assured. 

 

c. Revenue Recognition 

Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

 

The Company‘s revenue is generated from arrangement and administration fees. Revenue is recognized when 

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been rendered, the rate of services to the client is fixed 

or is determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Based on these criteria, the 

Company’s revenue is generally recognized as follows: 

 

i) Arrangement fees are recognized when fund are disbursed to the borrowers and are amortized over the 

expected term of the mortgage. If a mortgage is sold, any remaining fee is recognized as revenue in the 

period of sale. 

 

ii) Administration fees are recognized when the services are performed.   
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

d. Income Taxes  

The Company uses the taxes payable method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the Company 

reports as an expense (income) of the period only the cost (benefit) of current income taxes payable determined 

in accordance with the rules established by tax authorities. 

 
e. Use of estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimate and 

assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in the accrual of interest 

income and completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Significant changes in assumptions could 

materially change the recorded carrying value. These estimates are reviewed periodically and as adjustments 

become necessary they are represented in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic, which caused a 

major health crisis worldwide that affects the global economy and financial markets. Federal, provincial and 

municipal governments introduced numerous measures to protect the public. At this time, it is unknown the 

extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will depend on future 

developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. Given the outcome and 

time-frame to a recovery from the current pandemic is highly unpredictable, it is not practicable to estimate and 

disclose its financial effect on future operations at this time. 

f. Financial Instrument 

The company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-

arm’s length transactions. 

. 

The company subsequently measures all of its financial instruments at amortized cost, less any impairment, 

except for cash, accounts receivable, deposit regulatory financial guarantee, bank indebtedness, and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. These amounts are recorded at fair value each year-end. Amortization is recorded 

on a straight-line basis. 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of possible 

impairment. When events occurring after the impairment confirm a reversal is necessary, the reversal is 

recognized in net earnings up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. 

 

g. Related Party Transactions 

Related party transactions occurred during the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange 

amount, which is the amount of consideration agreed by the related parties. 

 

h. Government Assistance 

Government assistance toward current expenses, including salaries, is recognized as other income at the time the 

corresponding expenses are incurred, provided there is reasonable assurance that the company has complied and 

will continue to comply with all the conditions of the government assistance. 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

3. Share Capital 

Authorized 

Unlimited common shares - Class A 

 

 

 

 

2022 
  

2021 

  
      310,100 Common Shares     $ 310,100 

 

$ 310,100 

        

 

$ 310,100  $ 310,100 

  

 

4. Other Receivable – Government Assistance  

 

Other Receivables - Government Assistance consist of the following: 

 

 

  

2022 

  

2021 

 
       Canada Emergency Wage 

Subsidy (CEWS) Receivable  $ - 

 

$ 10,958 

        

 

$ -  $ 10,958 

  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Government of Canada announced the Canada Emergency Wage 

Subsidy (“CEWS”) for Canadian employers whose businesses were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The 

CEWS provides a subsidy towards eligible employees' remuneration, subject to certain criteria. Accordingly, the 

Company applied for the CEWS to the extent it met the requirements to receive the subsidy and $7,773 in 2022 

(2021- $152,201 which includes receivable of $10,958) was recognized in the statement of loss as a government 

assistance. 

 

 

5. Due from Related Party 

Amounts due from related party 6807771 Canada Inc. having significant influence, non-interest bearing with no 

specific terms of repayment; the holder of the debt have agreed in writing to be paid on demand. Since 6807771 

Canada Inc. also on rental property therefore there is no doubt that would not be collectable.  

 

 

  

2022 

  

2021 

 
       6807771 Canada Inc. $ 28,664 

 

$ 91,642 

        

 

$ 28,664  $ 91,642 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

6. Temporary Investment 

The following GIC amounting to $25,000 is for the purpose of satisfying the minimum $25,000 regulatory capital 

requirement. 

 

2022 

  

2021 

     GIC due August 30, 2023, 

3.75% per annum                            $ 25,000 

 

$ 25,000 

     

                                                 $ 25,000  $ 25,000 

 

7. Shareholder’s Loan 

Loan payable consists of loan from the shareholder. It is unsecured, non-interest bearing and does not have any 

specific terms of repayments. The shareholder has agreed in writing not to demand repayments of the loan within the 

next twelve months subsequent to the year-end. 

 

  

2022 

  

2021 

 
       Shareholder’s Loan $ 182,000 

 

$ - 

        

 

$ 182,000  $ - 

  

8. Account Payable & Accrued Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following: 

 

 

 

9. Government Remittance 

Government remittance consists of amounts such as payroll liabilities required to be paid to government authorities 

and are recognized when the amounts come due. In respect of government remittances, were outstanding as at August 

31, 2022 

 

  

2022 

 

 

 

2021 

 

    

 

   Payroll Liabilities $ 249,827   $ 375,026  

        

 

$ 249,827   $ 375,026 

 

    

 

    

  

2022 

 

 

 

2021 

 

    

 

   Accounts Payable $ 4,705 

 

 $ 2,983 

 Accrued Liabilities $ 40,044    41,322  

        

 

$ 44,749   $ 44,305 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

10. Risk Management 

i) Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the possibility that borrowers may be unable to honor their mortgage 

commitments because of instability in the real estate sector and an adverse change in economic conditions in 

Canada could result in declines in the value of real property securing the company’s mortgage investments. The 

company mitigates its risk by the following: 
 

 Ensuring a comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage investment prior to  

funding; this generally includes, but is not limited to, engaging professional independent consultants, 

lawyers and appraisers, and performing credit checks on prospective borrowers; 

 Ensuring its mortgage portfolio is diversified among various properties and borrowers; and 

 Actively monitoring the mortgage portfolio and initiating recovery procedures where required. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at August 31, 2022 is the fair value of its mortgage investments. 

 

ii) Regulatory Risk 

Regulatory risk is that the company must carry on its lending and syndication activities under the auspices of a 

regulatory body. The Company manages this risk by strictly adhering to the requirement of the Mortgage 

Brokerage, Lenders and Administration Act, 2006 and Regulations. 

 

iii) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they come 

due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flows as a result of the timing of mortgage 

investment funding and repayments. Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and requirements to 

ensure cash is efficiently utilized. 

 

11. Contingent Liabilities  

In the ordinary course of business, the company has entered into agreements related to lending agreements with 

borrowers for fulfillment of certain obligations on the part of the borrowers for their entitlement to un-advanced 

funds. The un-advanced funds under the existing mortgage portfolio amounted to $25,011 (2021-15,840) 

 

The company offers a default option to investors who purchase the mortgages. In the event a mortgage payment is 

over 90 days past due, the company will offer the investor one of three options, at the company’s discretion: 

 

i. to replace the mortgage with performing one; 

ii. to buy back the mortgage ; or 

iii. Default management services whereby the company will pay for the legal costs and real 

estate commissions related to default management and will have the right to recapture 

these costs from the excess proceeds of the property sale after the investor has received the 

funds owed to them. 

The company recorded a provision against potential costs that may arise from investors exercising this position. 

 

 

  2022    2021  

    

 

   Contingent Liabilities  $ 25,011 

 

 $ 15,840 

         

 

$ 25,011   $ 15,840 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 

12. Income Taxes 

The income tax provision recorded differs from the income tax obtained by applying the statutory income tax rate of 

(2022-12.20%) to the income in the year and is reconciled as follows: 

 

The company has non-capital losses for income tax purpose as at August 31, 2022 of $654,533 (2021-$524,573) 

which are available to reduce taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

 

 

 
The reconciliation of income taxes is as follows: 

 

 

The potential benefits relating to the available losses have not been recorded in the financial statements. 

 

13. Fees 

Fees consist of the following: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Year 

  

Amount 

  2024  $ 129,960 

  2026  $ 39,234 

  

2028 

 

$ 74,360 

  2030  $ 220,432 

  2032  $ 39,117 

  

2036 

 

$ 17,882 

  

     2038  

 

$      133,548  

  

2022 

  

2021 

 

Loss before income taxes 

 

$  (129,960)  

 

$  (39,234)  

      Statutory Rates 

 

12.20% 

  

12.20% 

 

(Loss) income tax (recoverable) expense at the combined basic federal 

and provincial tax rate (2022-12.20%) $  (15,855)  

 

$  (4,787)  

      

Non-deductible expenses  -   - 

Non-capital loss carried forward (applied)  15,855   4,787 

Income Tax Expense  -   - 

  

2022 

 

 

 

2021 

 

    

 

   Self-Insurance Default Fee $ 88,473 

 

 $ 78,406 

 Administration Fee $ 11,800   $ 20,000  

Loan Servicing Fee $ 47,520   $ 47,714  

 

$ 147,793   $ 146,120 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 
14. Government Assistance Loan  

a. The Company have been provided Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) loan amounting to total of 

$40,000 which is interest-free loan until December 31, 2023. It is to help eligible businesses to pay for operating 

expenses, payroll and other no deferrable expenses which are critical to sustain business continuity due to special 

circumstances of COVID-19. 

 

Repaying the balance of the loan on or before December 31, 2023 will result in loan forgiveness of 25 percent (Up 

to $10,000). Commencing on January 1, 2024, interest accrues on the balance of the term loan at the rate of 5% per 

annum, payable monthly on the last day of each month. 

 

Since there is reasonable assurance that the company will repay $30,000 by December 31, 2023, $10,000 forgivable 

amount is recorded as government assistance in the year ended August 31, 2021  

 

b. The company has also received government grant $18,748 against COVID-19 support from government for the 

fiscal year ended Aug 31, 2021 

 

15. Related Party Transactions 

The following transactions and balances with a related entity are included in the corresponding accounts in these 

financial statements. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 

value, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related entity. 

 

The following expense items are represented by transactions with a significantly influenced entity: 

 

 

  

2022 

 

 

 

2021 

 

    

 

   Occupancy Cost $ 27,000   $  27,000  

        

 

$ 27,000   $ 27,000 

  

 

16. Mortgage and Administration 

 

  

2022 

 

 

 

2021 

 

    

 

   Principle due from borrowers   $ 1,869,632   $ 2,035,926  

Assets held in administrative trust bank account $ 3,937   $ 19,449  

Assets held in brokerage trust bank account $ 2,401   $ 1,646  

        

 

$ 1,875,970   $ 2,057,021 

 

    

 

    
Investor Fund $ 1,869,632   $ 2,035,926  

Monies in trust due to investors $ 6,338   $ 21,095  

        

 

$  1,875,970   $ 2,057,021 
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First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended August 31, 2022 
17. Commitment 

First Swiss Mortgage Corp. has paid the sum of $27,000 for the period Sep 2021 to August 2022 as the part of this 

sharing agreement to 6807771 Canada Corp. 

 

There is no long term commitment with related company. Parties have agreed to share costs on a month to month basis 

plus applicable taxes. 

 

18. Going Concern 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course 

of business. There is significant doubt about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption because 

the Company has experienced losses over the past three years. The application of the going concern basis is dependent 

on the continued support of the shareholders and the Company’s ability to sustain future profitable operations. 

 

Management is of the opinion that sufficient working capital will be obtained from future cash flows to meet the 

Company’s liabilities and commitments as they become payable. Revenues will be increased gradually as 

management has secured new contracts and is in negotiation with others for additional contracts. Thereafter. 

Further, management secured additional shareholder funding to meet short term cash needs in the prior year and is 

currently generating sufficient cash flow to extinguish short-term obligations as they arise. 

 

These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption were 

not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate, adjustments would be necessary to the carrying value 

of assets, the reported revenues and expenses, and the balance sheet classifications used. 

 

19. Comparative Figures 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s financial statement have been reclassified for comparative purpose to conform to 

the presentation in the current year’s financial statement. 
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June 16, 2023 

VIA EMAIL 
zweigs@bennettjones.com 

Sean Zweig 
Bennett Jones 
3400 One First Canadian Place  
P.O. Box 130  
Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4  
 
Re: Chief Executive Officer of the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (“FSRA”) 

v. First Swiss Mortgage Corp. (“First Swiss”) 
Court File No. CV-23-00696362-00CL 

Dear Mr. Zweig, 

We have reviewed the Affidavit of Reza Nezami-Nia sworn June 9, 2023 (the “RNN Affidavit”). The RNN 
Affidavit contains statements that are false, much of its contents are irrelevant to the pending motion to 
which it has been delivered in response, and various statements made in it seek to collaterally attack the 
Order of Justice Steele dated March 17, 2023 (as later amended). 

We have summarized below certain comments with respect to statements made in the RNN Affidavit, listed 
by reference to the relevant paragraph number in the RNN Affidavit. This summary is not intended to be 
exhaustive and should not be taken to confirm agreement with respect to statements in the RNN Affidavit 
not specifically addressed herein, including due to the lack of relevance with respect to the pending motion.  

Para 4: “Since 1998, I have been licensed and registered with the FSRA and its predecessor, the Financial 
Services Commission of Ontario (“FSCO”). Throughout this time, I have never experienced any regulatory 
or compliance issues and I have never had any complaints against me by anyone.” 

Comment: This statement is false. Among other things, there was a compliance issue with Mr. Nezami-
Nia’s continuing education requirements as Insurance Agent licensee in 2013, and warning letters were 
sent to First Swiss in 2022 and 2023 respectively regarding the company’s financial guarantee 
requirement and late filing of audited financial statements. 

Para 8: “When a mortgage application was approved by FSM, FSM would utilize funds from a pool of 
investors, advance the funds to the borrower and register a second mortgage on the residential property.” 

Comments: Annual Information Returns filed by First Swiss as mortgage administrator indicated that 
First Swiss did not administer syndicated mortgages. First Swiss was not registered as a Mortgage 
Investment Corporation. The mortgage agreement documents filed with the Court in connection with 
the receivership application indicated that investors fully funded specific mortgages rather than a pool. 

Para 9: “I verily believe FSM has been involved with, originated, serviced and administered well over $100 
million in mortgages throughout its operational history...” 

Comments:  Annual Information Returns filed by First Swiss did not disclose this level of mortgage 
administration activity. 

REPLY TO: GEORGE BENCHETRIT
FILE NO.: 76597 
DIRECT: 416-218-1141
FAX: 416-218-1141
EMAIL: george@chaitons.com
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Para 15: “All FSM financial statements and reports were approved by the FSRA and prepared by FSRA 
approved auditors and accountants, in accordance with all applicable FSRA regulations, guidance and 
requirements.” 

Comments: FSRA specifically communicated to First Swiss via email on November 9, 2021 that its 
2017, 2018, 2019 Independent Auditor’s Reasonable Assurance Report on Compliance was not in 
FSRA’s approved format. 

Para 17: "FSM employed close to 300 staff and brokers..." 

Comments: FSRA has not seen evidence supporting this level of staffing.   

Para 20: “While I was initially more involved in the general business activities of FSM, I took a step back 
roughly ten years ago to focus on other aspects of my life.” 

Comments: Mr. Nezami-Nia has continued to be designated as the Principal Broker for First Swiss to 
date for the purpose of its mortgage brokerage business. The Principal Broker is ultimately responsible 
for compliance within the mortgage brokerage entity - maintaining this status is not consistent with a 
“step back”.  See O.Reg 410/07 under the Mortgage Brokerages, Lenders and Administrators Act 
(“MBLAA”), particularly sections 2 and 3. Note also that while Mr. Nezami-Nia claims to be disengaged 
from the activities of First Swiss, he also alleges that he actively responded to FSRA’s inquiries, 
including detailed questions about the business activities of First Swiss (e.g., para 16 of the RNN 
Affidavit). 

Para 45: “I verily believe that the FSRA only suspended my broker’s license, with no effect on any other 
officers, brokers or agents at FSM, including Dookram.” 

Comments: Mr. Dookram and other First Swiss licensees were suspended when the First Swiss 
brokerage licence was suspended because First Swiss was their sponsoring brokerage (see s. 17(3) 
of the MBLAA: “(3) A mortgage broker’s or agent’s licence is suspended, … (b) if the brokerage’s 
licence is suspended, surrendered or revoked.”).  It was not necessary therefore to take separate action 
to suspend the licences of agents sponsored by First Swiss. 

Para 49: “Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “D” to this my Affidavit is a copy of the email 
correspondence from Ms. Mirhassanivahed dated March 6, 2023.” 

Comments: Mr. Nezami-Nia included only a partial copy of the correspondence. He omits an email he sent 
to FSRA on March 6, 2023 where he stated: 

“In follow up with our phone conversation here are the answer to your questions,  

- 8 transactions for 2022 

- Mortgages are offered only through third party mortgage brokers who will do all documentation 
and disclosures.” 

Para 55: “Paragraph 18 of the Notice of Proposal to Revoke Licenses also sets out that I am the ‘principal 
broker’ of FSM. This is incorrect and misleading. FSRA was fully aware that there were multiple principal 
brokers at FSM and that another individual at FSM named Eugene Trounev was in charge of mortgage 
administration for the company.” 

Comments: A mortgage brokerage can have only one Principal Broker (see MBLAA, s. 7(6)). Mr. 
Nezami-Nia is registered as the Principal Broker of First Swiss.  According to First Swiss’s Annual 
Information Returns, Mr. Nezami-Nia was the Principal Broker commencing in 2015. Mr. Trounev was 
the Principal Broker from 2010-2014. 
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O. Reg. 410/07, s. 1 requires that, if the brokerage is a corporation, the Principal Broker must be a 
director or officer of the corporation. Mr. Nezami-Nia is currently the sole director of First Swiss. 

Para 61: “I did call Dmitrii Mazur within an hour of receiving his email and left a voicemail at the phone 
number he provided.” 

Comments: Mr. Mazur (Technical Lead, Complaints and Risk Assessment, Market Conduct with 
FSRA) has reviewed his records, including his phone logs, and has confirmed that he did not receive 
a call or voicemail from Mr. Nezami-Nia on March 15, 2023. 

Para 63: “All information regarding mortgage portfolio, mortgages under administration, investor 
information and all other related data were provided by Mr. Dookram at FSM”. 

Comments: Mr. Nezami-Nia, as Principal Broker, submitted the Mortgage Brokerage Annual 
Information Returns for First Swiss.  The attestation in these returns (i.e., that the information submitted 
is true) was provided by Mr. Nezami-Nia. 

Yours truly, 
CHAITONS LLP 
 

 
George Benchetrit 
PARTNER* 

*Denotes Professional Corporation 

 
GB/ac 

c. Joseph Blinick, Bennett Jones 
blinickj@bennettjones.com 
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 6807771 Canada Corp

 Balance Sheet
 As of 30 June 2017

30 June 17

ASSETS

Current Assets

Chequing/Savings

Bank Of Montreal 2429 1044.279 4,900.93

US Account 2429 4701-106 5,161.77

Total Chequing/Savings 10,062.70

Other Current Assets

Investment with Fund 115,000.00

Loan Receivable-Investment Co. 206,998.34

Loan Receivable (Farm Expenses)

Aircraft 116,962.65

Auto Lease (Ford) 12,526.15

Auto Lease (Posche Financial) 25,329.00

Credit Card 4866 254,800.06

Farm - Dodge Challenger 47,000.00

Farm Equipment 42,000.00

Feeders wagon 16,800.00

Fencing Farm 43,457.00

Ford Truck 24,920.00

Legal Expenses - Farm 418,553.15

Livestock 276,620.83

Tractor 277,419.65

Loan Receivable (Farm Expenses) - Other 378,469.12

Total Loan Receivable (Farm Expenses) 1,934,857.61

Loan Receivable (FSM Expenses) 3,161.54

Total Other Current Assets 2,260,017.49

Total Current Assets 2,270,080.19

Other Assets

Deposit from Aeronuatical Title 50,000.00

Total Other Assets 50,000.00

TOTAL ASSETS 2,320,080.19 2,310,017.49

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Shareholder Loan

Reza Nezami (Shareholder) 3,505,577.00

Total Shareholder Loan 3,505,577.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 3,505,577.00

Total Liabilities 3,505,577.00

Equity

Capital Stock 100.00

Opening Balance Equity -1,179,607.00

Net Income -5,990.00

Total Equity -1,185,497.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 2,320,080.00
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Canada.ca  Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada  Corporations Canada

  Search for a Federal Corporation

Order a Corporate Profile [View PDF Sample] [View HTML Sample].
Find existing extra-provincial registrations of this corporation on Canada’s Business
registries 

Federal Corporation Information - 980688-1

Beware of scams and other suspicious activities. See Corporations Canada's
alerts.



Note

This information is available to the public in accordance with legislation (see
Public disclosure of corporate information).



Order copies of corporate documents

Corporation Number
980688-1

Business Number (BN)
763621695RC0001

Corporate Name
9806881 CANADA CORP.

Status
Active

Governing Legislation
Canada Business Corporations Act - 2016-06-24



Registered Office Address

7191 Yonge Street, Suite 911
Thornhill ON L3T 0C4

https://www.canada.ca/en.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-science-economic-development.html
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/home
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/fdrlCrpSrch.html
http://www.canada.ca/en/index.html
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/ocp-wz.html?corporationId=9806881
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/samples/SampleCorpProfile_en.pdf
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/samples/sampleCorpProfile.html
https://beta.canadasbusinessregistries.ca/search/results?search=9806881
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/site/corporations-canada/en/notices#alert
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url11
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/web/cps/dcmnts?corpId=9806881


Canada

Note

Active CBCA corporations are required to update this information within 15 days of
any change. A corporation key is required. If you are not authorized to update this
information, you can either contact the corporation or contact Corporations
Canada. We will inform the corporation of its reporting obligations.



Directors

F Yavari
911- 7191 Yonge Street
Thornhill ON L3T 0C4
Canada

Minimum 1
Maximum 10

Note

Active CBCA corporations are required to update director information (names,
addresses, etc.) within 15 days of any change. A corporation key is required. If you
are not authorized to update this information, you can either contact the
corporation or contact Corporations Canada. We will inform the corporation of its
reporting obligations.



Annual Filings

Anniversary Date (MM-DD)
06-24

Date of Last Annual Meeting
2022-06-30

Annual Filing Period (MM-DD)
06-24 to 08-23

Type of Corporation
Non-distributing corporation with 50 or fewer shareholders

Status of Annual Filings

https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/chngRgstrdcdrsWz.html?corporationId=9806881
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url22
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url20
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url21
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/chngDrctrs.html?corporationId=9806881
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url22
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url20
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url21


Start New Search    Return to Search Results

2023 - Not due
2022 - Filed
2021 - Filed

Corporate History

Corporate Name History

2016-06-24 to Present 9806881 CANADA CORP.

Certificates and Filings

Certificate of Incorporation
2016-06-24

Order copies of corporate documents

Date Modified:
2023-06-12

https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/fdrlCrpSrch.html?p=0&V_SEARCH.command=refine&V_TOKEN=null&crpNm=9806881%20Canada%20Corp.&crpNmbr=&bsNmbr=&cProv=&cStatus=&cAct=
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/web/cps/dcmnts?corpId=9806881


Ministry of Public and 
Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

9806881 CANADA CORP. as of June 15, 2023

Act Corporations Information Act
Type Extra-Provincial Federal Corporation with Share
Name 9806881 CANADA CORP.
Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 3135853
Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Federal
Incorporation/Amalgamation Date June 24, 2016
Registered or Head Office Address 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4
Status Refer to Governing Jurisdiction
Date Commenced in Ontario June 24, 2016
Principal Place of Business 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Chief Officer or Manager
 
Name R N
Address for Service 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Corporate Name History
Refer to Governing Jurisdiction

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Document List

Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Initial Return  
PAF: R N - DIRECTOR

June 27, 2016

 
All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is 
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Transaction Number: APP-A10209397926
Report Generated on June 15, 2023, 14:53

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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9806881 Canada Corp.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader

June 30, 2020
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NOTICE TO READER 1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance Sheet 2

Statement of Net Income (Loss) and Deficits 3

9806881 Canada Corp.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario

Tel: (647) 499-6636 Cell: (647) 999-5536 Fax: 1888 611-8836 Email: raza@accountantcpa.ca  Website: www.accountantcpa.ca 

Suite # 803 - 250 Consumer Road, Toronto, Ontario M2J 4V6, Canada

19-November-2021

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation
Licensed Public Accountant

NOTICE TO READER

On the basis of information provided by management, I have compiled the balance sheet of 9806881 Canada Corp.

as at June 30, 2020 and the statement of income (loss) and retained earnings (Deficits) for the year then ended.

Syed A. Raza Professional Corporation, CPA

Licensed Public Accountant

I have not performed an audit or a review engagement in respect of these financial statements and, accordingly, 

I express no assurance thereon.

Readers are cautioned that these statements may not be appropriates for their purposes.



2020 2019

ASSETS

CURRENT

Cash & Bank 78,572          89,753          

GST/HST Receivable 452,356        292,945        

Inventory 771,833        838,890        

Other Receivables 76,964          54,231          

Prepaid Expenses 2,000            3,000            

Total Current Assets $ 1,381,725     $ 1,278,819     

CAPITAL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Fixed Assets 1,591,700     683,137        

Total Assets $ 2,973,425     $ 1,961,956     

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

CURRENT

Accounts Payable 307,149        -                

Payroll Liabilities 758               -                

Shareholder's Loan 691,983        638,582        

Total Current Liabilities $ 999,890        $ 638,582        

LONG TERM DEBT

Long Term Loan Payable 244,687        240,624        

Intercompany Payable 5,923,396     3,793,865     

Total Liabilities $ 6,168,083     4,034,489     

Shareholder's Equity

Issued Capital 10                 10                 

Deficit (4,194,558)    (2,711,125)    

Total Shareholder's Equity $ (4,194,548)    $ (2,711,115)    

Total Liabilities & Shareholder's Equity $ 2,973,425     $ 1,961,955     

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Director

Director

9806881 Canada Corp. 
BALANCE SHEET

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader

AS AT 30 June  2020



2020 2019

Sales 68,085            85,092          

Less: Cost of  Sales 93,290            112,999        

Gross Profit $ (25,205)           $ (27,907)         

EXPENSES

Advertising Expense 185,926          141,441        

Amortization 448,970          226,879        

Automobile Expense 49,563            18,990          

Farm Expense 604,490          184,789        

Insurance Expense 38,583            26,128          

Interest on Long Term Debt 10,580            17,572          

Office Expense 39,605            76,949          

Travel Expense 50,121            89,541          

Professional Fees 12,890            20,048          

Salaries & Wages 8,654              -                

License & Permits -                  1,954            

Rent Expense 11,654            5,400            

Telephone Expense 2,278              -                

Total Expense 1,463,312       809,691        

Gain/Loss on Sales of Assets 5,084              9,661            

Income (loss) before income tax (1,483,433)      (847,260)       

Income Tax Expense -                  -                

Net income (Loss) (1,483,433)      (847,260)       

Retained Earning (Deficit), beginning of the year (2,711,125)      (1,863,865)    

Retained Earning (Deficit), end of the year $ (4,194,558)      $ (2,711,125)    

9806881 Canada Corp. 
STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Deficits)

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader

For the year end June 30, 2020
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159 Main Street, Suite 2 
Unionville, Ontario L3R 2G8 

Phone: 905-479-5291; Fax: 866-937-0360 
Email: kevin@kevinwilsonlaw.ca 

www.kevinwilsonlaw.ca 

 

 

 

 

December 28, 2016 

 

10013536 CANADA CORP. 

7191 Yonge Street 

Unit 911 

Markham, Ontario 

L3T 0C4 

 

Re: 843675 Ontario Inc. first mortgage loan to 10013536 Canada Corp. 

 7191 Yonge Street, Unit 911, Markham 

  
       
 

STATEMENT OF ADVANCE 

Principal amount of mortgage   $400,000.00 

Placement fee  $4,000.00 

Broker fee  6,000.00 

Paid legal fees and disbursements - Law 

Offices of Kevin R. Wilson  1,500.00 

Paid to you borrower’s solicitor in trust  388,500.00 

                                                    

  $400,000.00 $400,000.00 

                                                    

 

THIS IS MY STATEMENT HEREIN 

 

 

Kevin R. Wilson 

 

KRW: 

E. & O. E. 

 



  

M O HA J E R  L A W  O F F I C E 

M A R Y A M  M O H A J E R 
 
B .  S c . ,  M .  S c . ,  L L . B . 
B A R R I S T E R  &  S O L I C I T O R            

NORTH YORK CITY CENTRE 
5 1 4 0  Y O N G E   S T R E E T 

S U I T E   1 5 3 0 
T O R O N T O,   O N T A R I O 

M 2 N  6 L 7    
P H O N E :  ( 4 1 6 ) 4 8 7 -8 6 1 1 

F A X :  ( 4 1 6 )  4 8 7- 8 8 6 7 

 

December 28, 2016 

 

Reza Nezami 

911 - 7191 Yonge Street 

Markham, Ontario 

L3T 0C4 

 

Re: Your purchase from Ehsani-Yeganeh 

 911 - 7191 Yonge Street, Markham 

 My File No.: 16-4601 
       
 

TRUST LEDGER STATEMENT 

Received from 1st mortgagee - 843675 Ontario 

Inc.   $388,500.00 

Received from you - 10013536 Canada Corp.   154,187.34 

Paid to vendor on closing  $531,517.21 

Paid Ontario Land Transfer Tax  7,175.00 

Registration Fees  225.81 

Title Insurance Ref#1635600221  644.76 

Paid to City of Markham- Tax Certificate  77.50 

Paid to City of Markham- Property complience  80.00 

Paid legal fees and disbursements - MARYAM 

MOHAJER  2,967.06 

                                                    

  $542,687.34 $542,687.34 

                                                    

 

 

THIS IS MY STATEMENT HEREIN 

 

 

Maryam Mohajer 

 

E. & O. E. 
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Canada.ca  Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada  Corporations Canada

  Search for a Federal Corporation

Order a Corporate Profile [View PDF Sample] [View HTML Sample].

Federal Corporation Information - 1001353-6

Beware of scams and other suspicious activities. See Corporations Canada's
alerts.



Note

This information is available to the public in accordance with legislation (see
Public disclosure of corporate information).



Order copies of corporate documents

Corporation Number
1001353-6

Business Number (BN)
739417293RC0001

Corporate Name
10013536 Canada Corp.

Status
Active

Governing Legislation
Canada Business Corporations Act - 2016-12-07

Registered Office Address

7191 Yonge street, suite 911
Thornhill ON L3T 0C4
Canada

https://www.canada.ca/en.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-science-economic-development.html
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/home
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/fdrlCrpSrch.html
http://www.canada.ca/en/index.html
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/ocp-wz.html?corporationId=10013536
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/samples/SampleCorpProfile_en.pdf
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/samples/sampleCorpProfile.html
https://ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/h_cs03950.html#alert
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url11
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/web/cps/dcmnts?corpId=10013536


Note

Active CBCA corporations are required to update this information within 15 days of
any change. A corporation key is required. If you are not authorized to update this
information, you can either contact the corporation or contact Corporations
Canada. We will inform the corporation of its reporting obligations.



Directors

F Yavari
911-7191 Yonge Street
Thornhill ON L3T 0C4
Canada

Minimum 1
Maximum 10

Note

Active CBCA corporations are required to update director information (names,
addresses, etc.) within 15 days of any change. A corporation key is required. If you
are not authorized to update this information, you can either contact the
corporation or contact Corporations Canada. We will inform the corporation of its
reporting obligations.



Annual Filings

Anniversary Date (MM-DD)
12-07

Date of Last Annual Meeting
2023-02-15

Annual Filing Period (MM-DD)
12-07 to 02-05

Type of Corporation
Non-distributing corporation with 50 or fewer shareholders

Status of Annual Filings
2023 - Not due
2022 - Filed

https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/chngRgstrdcdrsWz.html?corporationId=10013536
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url22
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url20
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url21
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/bs/chngDrctrs.html?corporationId=10013536
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url22
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url20
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/rdrctr.html?pid=rdrct.url21


Start New Search    Return to Search Results

2021 - Filed

Corporate History

Corporate Name History

2016-12-07 to Present 10013536 Canada Corp.

Certificates and Filings

Certificate of Incorporation
2016-12-07

Order copies of corporate documents

Date Modified:
2023-02-10

https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/lgcy/fdrlCrpSrch.html?V_SEARCH.command=refine&V_TOKEN=null&crpNm=10013536%20Canada%20Corp.&crpNmbr=&bsNmbr=
https://ised-isde.canada.ca/cc/web/cps/dcmnts?corpId=10013536


Ministry of Public and 
Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

10013536 CANADA CORP. as of March 23, 2023

Act Corporations Information Act
Type Extra-Provincial Federal Corporation with Share
Name 10013536 CANADA CORP.
Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 3144800
Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Federal
Incorporation/Amalgamation Date December 07, 2016
Registered or Head Office Address 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4
Status Refer to Governing Jurisdiction
Date Commenced in Ontario December 07, 2016
Principal Place of Business 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Chief Officer or Manager
 
Name R NEZAMI
Address for Service 7191 Yonge Street, 911, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada, L3T 0C4

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 2 of 6



Corporate Name History
Refer to Governing Jurisdiction

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Document List

Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Initial Return  
PAF: R NEZAMI - DIRECTOR

December 08, 2016

 
All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is 
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Transaction Number: APP-A10152908133
Report Generated on March 23, 2023, 15:39

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after June 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings 
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated 
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report. 
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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1

Nisan Thurairatnam

From: Nisan Thurairatnam
Sent: June 16, 2023 10:32 AM
To: Nisan Thurairatnam
Subject: FW: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street

From: Alex @ <Y7191911@outlook.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 15, 2023 5:40 PM 
To: zweigs@bennettjones.com; Robert Karrass <robert@karrasslaw.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray <GrayT@bennettjones.com>; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca; 
Joseph Blinick <BlinickJ@bennettjones.com> 
Subject: Re: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
 
Mr. Zwig 
 
You are not allowed to intimidate and threat and are not above the law.l, this is already harassment. 
 
There is only failure and that is you and all other one involved who have taken the premises to the point of destruction, 
to the point that now building has to hire air quality control check contractors and we will be charged fir it. I am assuring 
you we will take right action in our side necessary to recover the damages and losses to us. 
I repeat to you one last time mortgage company first Swiss mortgage was not our tenant and we have no contract with 
them period. We will not provide you private documents related to us or any of our tenants and in this case tenant is 
not the company you are asking or send the documents. 
We need to know who exactly had the keys to our property and who was responsible to look after it . Please provide 
this information. 
You have no order telling any landlord in this city to give you whatever you ask so do not misrepresent the document 
you sent me. 
 
 
 
 
 

From: Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Sent: June 15, 2023 12:42 PM 
To: Alex @ <Y7191911@outlook.com>; Robert Karrass <robert@karrasslaw.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray <GrayT@bennettjones.com>; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca 
<rgoldhar@goldhar.ca>; Joseph Blinick <BlinickJ@bennettjones.com> 
Subject: RE: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street  
  
Alex, 
  
We understand that First Swiss Mortgage Corp used the premises as its office. Your failure to provide the basic 
information requested is unhelpful and in breach of the attached Court Order. We reiterate our request for the 
information requested.  
  
Please note that the Court-appointed Receiver will hold you responsible for any action taken that results in any loss to 
First Swiss Mortgage Corp, and the Receiver will seek costs against you personally as appropriate.  
  



2

  
Sean Zweig  
Partner*, Bennett Jones LLP 
*Denotes Professional Corporation  

 

3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130, Toronto, ON, M5X 1A4 
T. 416 777 6254 | F. 416 863 1716  
  
BennettJones.com 
   

 

  

From: Alex @ <Y7191911@outlook.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 15, 2023 8:59 AM 
To: Robert Karrass <robert@karrasslaw.com>; Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray <GrayT@bennettjones.com>; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca 
Subject: Re: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
  
All, 
  
We sent the email to everyone that we were able to obtain the contact information so there would not be 
anyone left out who would say later I had something in that premises and did not know to pick it up, because 
everything will be discarded as part of cleaning the unit. 
  
The unit has been left with no care, no cleaning, no utility services and is in stage of developing mold, being 
fire hazard to building and with no insurance. 
  
We do not have to notify or ask anyone; It was simply a courtesy notice. 
  
We do not know who is who and do not want to know. 
  
We do not have to give any agreement or statement to any of you and the mortgage company there wasn't 
our contracted tenant anyway. 
  
The initial email I sent was clear and we will not be responding to any of the emails any more. 
  
Thank you. 
  
  
  

From: Robert Karrass <robert@karrasslaw.com> 
Sent: June 14, 2023 12:11 PM 
To: Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Cc: Alex @ <Y7191911@outlook.com>; Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray 
<GrayT@bennettjones.com>; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca <rgoldhar@goldhar.ca> 
Subject: Re: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street  
  
With respect, I don’t believe I need to be included on this chain.  
  
Best, 
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Robert Karrass 
Robert Karrass 
Principal 

 
7636 Yonge Street, Thornhill, ON L4J 1V9 
T. 416-477-6022 ext. 202 | F. 416-477-6033 | www.karrasslaw.com 
 
This email communication is CONFIDENTIAL AND LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify me at 
the telephone number shown above or by return email and delete this communication and any copy immediately. Thank you.   
 

On Jun 14, 2023, at 12:05 PM, Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> wrote: 
  
Alex, 
  
Just following-up on the chain below. When can we expect to receive the rental agreement and an 
account statement? 
  
  
Sean Zweig 
Partner*, Bennett Jones LLP 
*Denotes Professional Corporation 

 

3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130, Toronto, ON, M5X 1A4 
T. 416 777 6254 | F. 416 863 1716 
  
BennettJones.com 

   
<image001.png>  

 

  

From: Sean Zweig  
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2023 3:29 PM 
To: 'Alex @' <Y7191911@outlook.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray 
<GrayT@bennettjones.com>; robert@karrasslaw.com; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca 
Subject: RE: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
  
Alex, 
  
I am legal counsel for KSV Restructuring Inc., the court-appointed receiver of First Swiss. 
  
In my email below, I asked you for two simple things that should be readily available. Both of which the 
receiver is undoubtedly entitled to. Please provide them forthwith.  
  
  
Sean Zweig 
Partner*, Bennett Jones LLP 
*Denotes Professional Corporation 

 

3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130, Toronto, ON, M5X 1A4 
T. 416 777 6254 | F. 416 863 1716 
  
BennettJones.com 
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From: Alex @ <Y7191911@outlook.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2023 1:35 PM 
To: Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray 
<GrayT@bennettjones.com>; robert@karrasslaw.com; rgoldhar@goldhar.ca 
Subject: Re: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
  
Sean, 
Are you legally in position to represent First Swiss Mortgage Corp in bankruptcy? 
Are you willing and able to bring all outstanding amounts to good standing immediately? 
Are you going to bring the unit into compliance condition and restore all services immediately ? 
The outstanding amounts are in excess of $25,000 as of May 31 
  
Unless you can confirm the above we have no interest or intention to either delay or negotiate 
anything. Our property has nearly been destroyed and devalued due to all these. 
Regard 
  

 
From: Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Sent: June 12, 2023 11:39 AM 
To: Alex - <Y7191911@outlook.com> 
Cc: Mitch Vininsky <mvininsky@ksvadvisory.com>; Thomas Gray <GrayT@bennettjones.com> 
Subject: RE: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
  
Alex, 
  
Can you please provide a copy of the rental agreement and an account statement? 
  
  
Sean Zweig 
Partner*, Bennett Jones LLP 
*Denotes Professional Corporation 

 

3400 One First Canadian Place, P.O. Box 130, Toronto, ON, M5X 1A4 
T. 416 777 6254 | F. 416 863 1716 
  
BennettJones.com 

   
<image001.png>  

 

  

From: Alex - <Y7191911@outlook.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2023 10:55 AM 
To: rgoldhar@goldhar.ca; robert@karrasslaw.com; Sean Zweig <ZweigS@bennettjones.com> 
Subject: First Swiss Mortgage Corp premises at 7191 Yonge street 
  
Dear Sir/ Madam, 
  
Please be advised that we are the landlord and owner of the unit located at 7191 Yonge St, 
suite 911, The unit was rented and occupied by First Swiss Mortgage Corp which has filed for 
bankruptcy on March 15, 2023. 
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 Landlord's rent is past due for significant amount. 
 No-one has attended to the unit and maintained the unit. 
 Hydro, electricity, water, AC and heat all have been discounnected by utility providers 

due to none payment. 
 The insurance on premises is no longer valid. 
 The unit has been a fire hazard in such conditions to the entire building. 
 The unit has fallen into the state of disrepair.  

According to the bankruptcy laws landlord has full right and ability to take control of its 
property and secure any remaining assets inside the premises as collateral to recover its 
damages after 3 months from the date of bankruptcy. 
  
We are intending to take full possession of our property this Friday June 16, 2023. Please 
remove any belonging prior to that date as any remaining material could be discarded.  
Any entry unauthorized in writing by landlord to the unit after June 16, 2023 will be considered 
unlawful and trespassing. 
  
For the past few months no-one has ever contacted the landlord and the email addresses for 
this notice were provided by the contact at First Swiss Mortgage Corp. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
10013536 Canada Corp. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
The contents of this message may contain confidential and/or privileged subject matter. If this 
message has been received in error, please contact the sender and delete all copies. If you do not 
wish to receive future commercial electronic messages from Bennett Jones, you can unsubscribe 
at the following link: http://www.bennettjones.com/unsubscribe 
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http://www.bennettjones.com/unsubscribe  



CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE FINANCIAL 
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and FIRST SWISS MORTGAGE CORP.  
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SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 
 

Proceedings commenced in Toronto 
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